SCHULMAN A INC Form 10-Q July 09, 2012

UNITED STATES		
SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMIS	SION	
WASHINGTON, D.C. 20549		
FORM 10-Q		
(Mark One)		
QUARTERLY REPORT PURSUANT	TO SECTION 13 OR 15(d) OF THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE A	ACT
b OF 1934		
For the quarterly period ended May 31, 2012		
OR		
TRANSITION REPORT PURSUANT	TO SECTION 13 OR 15(d) OF THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE A	ACT
OF 1934		
For the transition period from to		
Commission File No. 0-7459		
A. SCHULMAN, INC.		
(Exact Name of Registrant as Specified in its	Charter)	
Delaware	34-0514850	
(State or Other Jurisdiction	(I.R.S. Employer	
of Incorporation or Organization)	Identification No.)	
3550 West Market Street, Akron, Ohio	44333	
(Address of Principal Executive Offices)	(ZIP Code)	
Registrant's telephone number, including area		
	(1) has filed all reports required to be filed by Section 13 or 15(d) of	f the
•	receding 12 months (or for such shorter period that the registrant was	
	subject to such filing requirements for the past 90 days. Yes b	,
No o	subject to such filling requirements for the past 70 days. Tes p	
	has submitted electronically and posted on its corporate Web site, if	
•	submitted and posted pursuant to Rule 405 of Regulation S-T during	
	period that the registrant was required to submit and post such files).	5
Yes b No o	orion that the registrant was required to submit and post such mos).	
•	is a large accelerated filer, an accelerated filer, a non-accelerated file	er or
•	f "accelerated filer", "large accelerated filer" and "smaller reporting	
in Rule 12b-2 of the Exchange Act.	and similar reporting	Company
Large accelerated filer o	Accelerated filer	þ
-	a smaller reporting company) Smaller reporting company	0
· ·	is a shell company (as defined in Rule 12b-2 of the Exchange Act).	=
Yes o No b	20 2 01 and 2.1000).	
-	value, outstanding as of June 27, 2012 – 29,539,675	
Number of shares of common stock, \$1.00 pa	value, outstanding as of June 27, 2012 – 29,539,675	

TABLE OF CONTENTS

		PAGE
PART I —	FINANCIAL INFORMATION	
Item 1	Consolidated Financial Statements	<u>1</u>
Item 2	Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of	20
Ittili Z	<u>Operations</u>	<u>20</u>
Item 3	Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosure about Market Risk	<u>37</u>
Item 4	Controls and Procedures	<u>37</u>
<u>PART II –</u>	<u>– OTHER INFORMATIO</u> N	
Item 1A	Risk Factors	<u>38</u>
Item 2	Unregistered Sales of Equity Securities and Use of Proceeds	<u>38</u>
Item 6	<u>Exhibits</u>	<u>39</u>
	<u>SIGNATURES</u>	
Exhibit 31.	.1	
Exhibit 31.	.2	
Exhibit 32		
EX-101 IN	ISTANCE DOCUMENT	
EX-101 SC	CHEMA DOCUMENT	
EX-101 CA	ALCULATION LINKBASE DOCUMENT	
EX-101 LA	ABELS LINKBASE DOCUMENT	
EX-101 PF	RESENTATION LINKBASE DOCUMENT	

Table of Contents

PART I—FINANCIAL INFORMATION

Item 1—Consolidated Financial Statements

A. SCHULMAN, INC.

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS

	Three months ended May 31, Nine month			s ended May 31,				
	2012		2011		2012		2011	
	Unaudited							
	(In thousands	, e	xcept per shar	e d	lata)			
Net sales	\$569,107		\$611,142		\$1,582,307		\$1,614,868	
Cost of sales	492,518		532,254		1,371,673		1,400,367	
Selling, general and administrative expenses	48,861		51,746		145,692		154,081	
Restructuring expense	1,944		1,843		6,785		5,779	
Asset impairment	2,586		125		2,586		1,925	
Curtailment (gain) loss	(101)			(310)		
Operating income	23,299		25,174		55,881		52,716	
Interest expense	1,953		1,802		6,532		4,729	
Interest income	(318)	(200)	(675)	(591)
Foreign currency transaction (gains) losses	53		60		569		1,398	
Other (income) expense, net	(60)	(1,637)	(1,113)	(2,074)
Income before taxes	21,671		25,149		50,568		49,254	
Provision (benefit) for U.S. and foreign income	4,423		6,225		10,067		13,675	
taxes	4,423		0,223		10,007		13,073	
Net income	17,248		18,924		40,501		35,579	
Noncontrolling interests	(252)	(170)	(850)	(441)
Net income attributable to A. Schulman, Inc.	\$16,996		\$18,754		\$39,651		\$35,138	
Weighted-average number of shares outstanding:								
Basic	29,440		30,853		29,411		31,092	
Diluted	29,569		31,061		29,585		31,289	
Earnings per share of common stock attributable to								
A. Schulman, Inc.:								
Basic	\$0.58		\$0.61		\$1.35		\$1.13	
Diluted	\$0.57		\$0.60		\$1.34		\$1.12	
Cash dividends per common share	\$0.190		\$0.155		\$0.530		\$0.465	

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the consolidated financial statements.

- 1 -

Table of Contents

A. SCHULMAN, INC.

CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS

	May 31, 2012 Unaudited (In thousands)	August 31, 2011
ASSETS		
Current assets:	Φ.CO. 452	ф155 5 50
Cash and cash equivalents	\$69,453	\$155,753
Accounts receivable, less allowance for doubtful accounts of \$8,560 at May 31, 2012 and \$9,475 at August 31, 2011	321,038	347,036
Inventories, average cost or market, whichever is lower	267,645	264,747
Prepaid expenses and other current assets	28,262	34,376
Total current assets	686,398	801,912
Property, plant and equipment, at cost:		
Land and improvements	28,745	30,826
Buildings and leasehold improvements	152,988	165,267
Machinery and equipment	366,813	382,828
Furniture and fixtures	38,126	41,860
Construction in progress	15,741	12,967
Gross property, plant and equipment	602,413	633,748
Accumulated depreciation and investment grants of \$606 at May 31, 2012 and \$815 at August 31, 2011	379,921	399,448
Net property, plant and equipment	222,492	234,300
Other assets:		
Deferred charges and other noncurrent assets	36,388	35,947
Goodwill	126,712	91,753
Intangible assets	91,726	76,075
Total other assets	254,826	203,775
Total assets	\$1,163,716	\$1,239,987
LIABILITIES AND EQUITY		
Current liabilities:	¢249.704	¢254.405
Accounts payable	\$248,704	\$254,405
U.S. and foreign income taxes payable Accrued payroll, taxes and related benefits	2,865 38,797	11,072 44,560
Other accrued liabilities	39,460	50,608
Short-term debt	36,033	11,550
Total current liabilities	365,859	372,195
Long-term debt	167,752	184,598
Pension plans	75,065	84,673
Other long-term liabilities	25,731	24,161
Deferred income taxes	23,805	20,055
Total liabilities	658,212	685,682
Commitments and contingencies		
Stockholders' equity:		
Common stock, \$1 par value, authorized - 75,000 shares, issued - 47,948 shares at	47,948	47,816
May 31, 2012 and 47,816 shares at August 31, 2011	·	·
Additional paid-in capital Accumulated other comprehensive income (loss)	257,973 (6,095)	254,184 50,007

Retained earnings	565,555	541,256	
Treasury stock, at cost, 18,408 shares at May 31, 2012 and 17,207 shares at August 31, 2011	(365,887) (344,759)
Total A. Schulman, Inc.'s stockholders' equity	499,494	548,504	
Noncontrolling interests	6,010	5,801	
Total equity	505,504	554,305	
Total liabilities and equity	\$1,163,716	\$1,239,987	

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the consolidated financial statements.

- 2 -

Table of Contents

A. SCHULMAN, INC. CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

	Nine months ended May 31,		
	2012	2011	
	Unaudited		
	(In thousands)		
Operating:			
Net income	\$40,501	\$35,579	
Adjustments to reconcile net income to net cash provided from (used in) operating			
activities:			
Depreciation and amortization	28,797	30,413	
Deferred tax provision	(7,414) (1,550)
Pension, postretirement benefits and other deferred compensation	4,327	5,701	
Net (gains) losses on asset sales		(775)
Asset impairment	2,586	1,925	
Curtailment (gains) losses	(310) —	
Changes in assets and liabilities, net of acquisitions:			
Accounts receivable	(6,501) (55,523)
Inventories	(31,161) (70,246)
Accounts payable	16,726	55,893	
Income taxes	(6,123) 6,189	
Accrued payroll and other accrued liabilities	(11,305) (7,869)
Other assets and long-term liabilities	4,380	(5,710)
Net cash provided from (used in) operating activities	34,503	(5,973)
Investing:			
Expenditures for property, plant and equipment	(27,505) (18,362)
Proceeds from the sale of assets	1,255	7,041	
Business acquisitions, net of cash acquired	(64,918) (15,071)
Net cash provided from (used in) investing activities	(91,168) (26,392)
Financing:			
Cash dividends paid) (14,559)
Increase (decrease) in notes payable	(5,623) (3,475)
Borrowings on revolving credit facilities	166,830	213,000	
Repayments on revolving credit facilities	(139,769) (170,250)
Repayments on long-term debt	(3,382) (21)
Payment of debt issuance costs	_	(2,220)
Cash distributions to noncontrolling interests	(580) (700)
Common stock issued (redeemed), net	358	(382)
Issuances (purchases) of treasury stock, net	(21,128) (14,393)
Net cash provided from (used in) financing activities	(18,646	7,000	
Effect of exchange rate changes on cash	(10,989) 8,599	
Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents	(86,300) (16,766)
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of period	155,753	122,754	
Cash and cash equivalents at end of period	\$69,453	\$105,988	

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the consolidated financial statements.

Table of Contents

A. SCHULMAN, INC.

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(Unaudited)

(1) GENERAL

The unaudited interim consolidated financial statements included for A. Schulman, Inc. (the "Company") reflect all adjustments, which are, in the opinion of management, necessary for a fair presentation of the results of the interim period presented. All such adjustments are of a normal recurring nature. The fiscal year-end consolidated balance sheet data was derived from audited financial statements, but does not include all disclosures required by accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America. The unaudited consolidated financial information should be read in conjunction with the consolidated financial statements and notes thereto incorporated in the Company's Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended August 31, 2011.

The results of operations for the three and nine months ended May 31, 2012 are not necessarily indicative of the results expected for the fiscal year ending August 31, 2012.

The accounting policies for the periods presented are the same as described in Note 1 – Business and Summary of Significant Accounting Policies to the consolidated financial statements contained in the Company's Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended August 31, 2011.

(2) BUSINESS ACQUISITIONS

Elian SAS

On January 31, 2012, the Company acquired all of the issued share capital of Elian SAS ("Elian"), a French portfolio company of British Vita plc, for approximately \$66.5 million, which included the repayment of approximately \$4.3 million in Elian debt. The results of Elian's operations have been included in the consolidated financial statements since the date of acquisition, January 31, 2012.

Elian provides specialty formulated color concentrates to over 1,000 customers in end markets such as packaging, cosmetics, personal hygiene, healthcare, and pipes and tubing products that require demanding specifications. Elian offers superior quality, technology and responsiveness to its diversified customer base. The acquisition of Elian moves the Company into France's color masterbatch market and improves the Company's product mix in the Europe, Middle East and Africa ("EMEA") region.

The information included herein has been prepared based on the preliminary allocation of the purchase price using estimates of the fair value and useful lives of assets acquired and liabilities assumed which were determined with the assistance of independent valuations, quoted market prices and estimates made by management. The purchase price allocations are subject to further adjustment until all pertinent information regarding the property, plant and equipment, intangible assets, goodwill, other long-term liabilities and deferred income tax assets and liabilities acquired are fully evaluated by the Company and independent valuations are complete.

- 4 -

Table of Contents

A. SCHULMAN, INC.

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(Unaudited)

The following table presents the preliminary estimated fair value of the assets acquired and liabilities assumed at the date of acquisition:

(In thousands)	
Cash and cash equivalents	\$1,624
Accounts receivable	6,897
Inventories	3,427
Prepaid expenses and other current assets	434
Property, plant and equipment	5,111
Intangible assets	27,779
Other long-term assets	20
Total assets acquired	\$45,292
Accounts payable	\$4,907
Other accrued liabilities	2,940
Deferred income taxes	10,786
Pension plans	568
Other long-term liabilities	143
Total liabilities assumed	\$19,344
Net identifiable assets acquired	\$25,948
Goodwill	40,597
Net assets acquired	\$66,545

The Company preliminarily recorded acquired intangible assets of approximately \$27.8 million. These intangible assets include customer related intangibles of approximately \$18.3 million with estimated useful lives of 9 years, developed technology of approximately \$8.6 million with estimated useful lives of 10 years, and trademarks and tradenames of approximately \$0.9 million with estimated useful lives of 5 years. As noted earlier, the fair values and assigned useful lives of the acquired identifiable intangible assets are preliminary pending receipt of the final valuations for those assets.

Goodwill represents the excess of the purchase price over the estimated fair values of the assets acquired and the liabilities assumed in the acquisition. Goodwill associated with this transaction was included in the EMEA segment and none of the goodwill is deductible for income tax purposes.

The estimated fair value of accounts receivable acquired was approximately \$6.9 million with the gross contractual amount being approximately \$7.3 million.

Net sales, income before taxes and net income attributable to A. Schulman, Inc. from Elian included in the Company's results since the January 31, 2012 acquisition are as follows:

	January 31, 2012
	to May 31, 2012
	(In thousands)
Net sales	\$12,976
Income before taxes	\$264
Net income attributable to A. Schulman, Inc. common stockholders	\$118

Income before taxes for Elian from January 31, 2012 to May 31, 2012 includes pretax depreciation and amortization costs of approximately \$1.3 million due to the increased value of fixed assets and intangibles, and approximately \$0.7 million of pretax purchase accounting inventory step-up charges.

Table of Contents

A. SCHULMAN, INC.

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(Unaudited)

The following pro forma information represents the consolidated results of the Company as if the acquisition of Elian occurred as of September 1, 2010:

	Nine months ended		
	May 31,	May 31,	
	2012	2011	
	(In thousands, o	except per share data)	
Net sales	\$ 1,598,079	\$ 1,645,751	
Net income attributable to A. Schulman, Inc.	\$ 41,187	\$ 36,697	
Net income per share of common stock attributable to common stockholders—diluted	\$ 1.39	\$ 1.17	

The pro forma results reflect certain adjustments related to the acquisition, such as increased depreciation and amortization expense on assets acquired from Elian resulting from the valuation of assets acquired, increased interest expense due to additional borrowings to fund the acquisition of Elian partially offset by the repayment of Elian debt, and decreased interest income from lower cash levels which were also used to fund the acquisition. The pro forma results do not include any anticipated cost synergies or other effects of the planned integration of Elian. Accordingly, such pro forma amounts are not necessarily indicative of the results that actually would have occurred had the acquisition been completed as of September 1, 2010, nor are they indicative of the future operating results of the consolidated Company.

Fiscal 2011 Business Transactions

In fiscal 2011, the Company acquired a business in Brazil and entered into an agreement to become the majority equity holder of an Argentinean venture. The consolidated statements of operations include the results of these transactions from the dates of acquisition or formation. These transactions are summarized below:

Transaction Description	Date of Transaction	Purchase Consideration	Segment
The second secon		(In millions)	Segment
Mash Indústria e Comércio de Compostos Plásticos LTDA	November 3, 2010	\$ 15.2	Americas
A Brazilian masterbatch additive producer and engineered plastic	S		
compounder whose products are used in end markets such as film	l		
and packaging, automotive and appliances			
Surplast S.A.	June 30, 2011	\$ 1.1	Americas
A 51% ownership interest in an Argentinean venture, further			
expanding the Company's specialty powders presence in South			
America			

(3) GOODWILL AND OTHER INTANGIBLE ASSETS

The carrying amount of goodwill by segment for the Company as of May 31, 2012 and August 31, 2011 is as follows:

	EMEA	Americas	Total	
	(In thousands	s)		
Balance as of August 31, 2011	\$30,949	\$60,804	\$91,753	
Acquisitions	40,597	_	40,597	
Translation and other	(4,713) (925) (5,638)
Balance as of May 31, 2012	\$66,833	\$59,879	\$126,712	

The increase in goodwill from August 31, 2011 is due to the acquisition of Elian in the second quarter of fiscal 2012. Goodwill is tested for impairment at the reporting unit level on an annual basis in the fourth quarter and between annual tests if an event occurs or circumstances change that would more likely than not reduce the fair value of a reporting unit below its carrying value.

During the second quarter of fiscal 2012, the actual operating results of the EMEA Specialty Powders ("EMEA SP") reporting unit declined below forecasted results due to overall economic conditions. The decline in actual operating results led the Company to conclude that a triggering event for review of potential goodwill impairment had occurred. Accordingly, the

- 6 -

Table of Contents

A. SCHULMAN, INC.

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(Unaudited)

Company performed an interim goodwill impairment evaluation for the EMEA SP reporting unit.

The test to evaluate goodwill for impairment is a two step process. In the first step, the reporting unit's fair value is compared to its carrying value. If such comparison indicates a potential impairment, the second step of the impairment evaluation requires a valuation of the reporting unit's tangible and intangible assets and liabilities in a manner similar to the allocation of purchase price in a business combination. If the resulting implied fair value of the reporting unit's goodwill is less than its carrying value, that difference represents an impairment.

The fair value used in step one of the EMEA SP goodwill impairment analysis was estimated using a combination of the income and market approaches, which contain significant unobservable inputs, based on average earnings before interest, taxes, depreciation and amortization, and cash flow multiples.

The Company completed the step one EMEA SP goodwill impairment analysis in the second quarter of fiscal 2012 and concluded that there was no goodwill impairment because the fair value of the reporting unit exceeded its carrying value by approximately 8%. The EMEA SP reporting unit had approximately \$18 million of goodwill as of May 31, 2012.

The Company concluded there were no triggering events which would have required a goodwill impairment test as of May 31, 2012.

The following table summarizes intangible assets with determinable useful lives by major category as of May 31, 2012 and August 31, 2011:

	May 31, 2012				August 31, 2011				
	Gross Carrying Amount	Accumulate Amortizatio		Carrying	Gross Carrying Amount	Accumulat Amortization		('arrving	
	(In thousands	5)							
Customer related intangibles	\$73,712	\$(11,392)	\$62,320	\$59,948	\$(7,428)	\$52,520	
Developed technology	21,502	(3,337)	18,165	13,522	(2,273)	11,249	
Registered trademarks and tradenames	13,380	(2,139)	11,241	13,751	(1,445)	12,306	
Total finite-lived intangible assets	\$108,594	\$(16,868)	\$91,726	\$87,221	\$(11,146)	\$76,075	

Amortization expense of intangible assets was approximately \$2.2 million and \$6.2 million for the three and nine months ended May 31, 2012, respectively, and approximately \$2.0 million and \$5.8 million for the three and nine months ended May 31, 2011, respectively.

(4) FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENT

For a discussion of the Company's fair value measurement policies under the fair value hierarchy, refer to Note 6 in the Company's Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended August 31, 2011. The Company has not changed its valuation techniques for measuring the fair value of any financial assets or liabilities during fiscal 2012, and transfers between levels within the fair value hierarchy, if any, are recognized at the end of each quarter.

- 7 -

Table of Contents

A. SCHULMAN, INC.

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(Unaudited)

The following table presents information about the Company's assets and liabilities measured at fair value as of May 31, 2012 and August 31, 2011:

	May 31, 2012				August 31, 2011			
	Total	Level 1	Level 2	Level 3	Total	Level 1	Level 2	Level 3
	(In thousa	nds)						
Assets recorded at fair	value:							
Foreign exchange	\$209	\$ —	\$209	\$ —	\$82	¢	\$82	¢
forward contracts	\$209	J —	\$209	\$ —	φ02	J —	φ02	Φ —
Liabilities recorded at	fair value:							
Foreign exchange	\$93	\$ —	\$93	\$ —	\$50	¢	\$50	¢
forward contracts	\$93	φ—	\$93	Φ—	\$30	Φ—	\$30	φ —
Liabilities not recorded	d at fair valu	e:						
Long-term debt	\$63,468	\$	\$63,468	\$	\$76,093	\$ —	\$76,093	\$ —
0 1 1 1 1 1			1 . 1			11.1 11 .1	•	1 6.1

Cash and cash equivalents are recorded at cost, which approximates fair value. Additionally, the carrying value of the Company's variable-rate debt approximates fair value.

Long-term fixed-rate debt issued in Euros is not recorded at fair value on a recurring basis; however, is presented at fair value for disclosure purposes as shown in the table above. The fair value of the Company's long-term fixed-rate debt was estimated using prevailing market interest rates on debt with similar creditworthiness, terms and maturities. As of May 31, 2012 and August 31, 2011, the carrying value of the Company's long-term fixed-rate debt recorded on the consolidated balance sheets was approximately \$62.4 million and \$72.7 million, respectively.

The total contract value of foreign exchange forward contracts outstanding was approximately \$16.1 million and \$18.4 million as of May 31, 2012 and August 31, 2011, respectively. The amount of foreign exchange forward contracts outstanding as of the end of the period is indicative of the level of the activity during the period. Any gains or losses associated with these contracts as well as the offsetting gains or losses from the underlying assets or liabilities are included in the foreign currency transaction (gains) losses line in the Company's consolidated statements of operations. The fair value of the Company's foreign exchange forward contracts is recognized in other current assets or other accrued liabilities in the consolidated balance sheets based on the net settlement value. The foreign exchange forward contracts are entered into with creditworthy multinational banks, generally have a term of three months or less, and the Company does not hold or issue foreign exchange forward contracts for trading purposes. There were no foreign exchange forward contracts designated as hedging instruments as of May 31, 2012 and August 31, 2011. As a result of the Italy restructuring initiative, further discussed in Note 12, the Company remeasured the carrying value of its facility in Verolanuova, Italy during the third quarter of fiscal 2012 at fair value of approximately \$2.9 million using comparable prices for similar assets. As a result, the Company recorded a pre-tax impairment charge of approximately \$2.4 million. There were no additional significant assets or liabilities that were remeasured at fair value on a non-recurring basis during the periods presented.

(5) INCOME TAXES

As of May 31, 2012, the Company's gross unrecognized tax benefits totaled approximately \$6.0 million. If recognized, approximately \$4.5 million of the total unrecognized tax benefits would favorably affect the Company's effective tax rate. The Company reports interest and penalties related to income tax matters in income tax expense. As of May 31, 2012, the Company had approximately \$1.0 million of accrued interest and penalties on unrecognized tax benefits. During the three months ended May 31, 2012, the Company recorded additional unrecognized tax benefits of approximately \$1.6 million relating primarily to proposed local tax examination adjustments arising in various jurisdictions during the period.

The Company is open to potential income tax examinations in Germany from fiscal 2005 onward, in the U.S. from fiscal 2009 onward and in Belgium from fiscal 2009 onward. The Company is open to potential examinations from

fiscal 2007 onward for most other foreign jurisdictions.

The amount of unrecognized tax benefits is expected to change in the next 12 months; however, the change is not expected to have a significant impact on the financial position of the Company.

-8-

Table of Contents
A. SCHULMAN, INC.
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Unaudited)

A reconciliation of the statutory U.S. federal income tax rate with the effective tax rates for the three months ended May 31, 2012 and 2011 is as follows:

	Three months ended May 31, 2012			Three months ended May 31, 2011		
	(In thousa	nds, except for %	5's)			
Statutory U.S. tax rate	\$7,585	35.0	%	\$8,802	35.0	%
Amount of foreign taxes at less than U.S. statutory tax rate	(4,177) (19.3)	(3,915) (15.6)
U.S. and foreign losses with no tax benefit	518	2.4		1,320	5.3	
U.S. restructuring and other U.S. unusual charge with no benefit	es 391	1.8		(147) (0.6)
Italian valuation allowance adjustment	(1,633) (7.5)	_		
Establishment (resolution) of uncertain tax positions	1,674	7.7		34	0.1	
Other	65	0.3		131	0.6	
Total income tax expense (benefit)	\$4,423	20.4	%	\$6,225	24.8	%

The effective tax rate for the three months ended May 31, 2012 was less than the U.S. statutory rate primarily because of the Company's overall foreign rate being less than the U.S. statutory rate and an adjustment to the Italian valuation allowance. These favorable effects on the Company's tax rate were partially offset by no tax benefits being recognized for U.S. and certain foreign losses as well as the establishment of uncertain tax positions. The change in the effective rate as compared with the same period last year was driven primarily by a decrease in the U.S. and foreign losses with no tax benefit.

The effective tax rate for the three months ended May 31, 2011 was less than the U.S. statutory rate primarily because of the Company's overall foreign rate being less than the U.S. statutory rate. This favorable effect on the Company's tax rate was partially offset by no tax benefits being recognized for U.S. and certain foreign losses.

During the three months ended May 31, 2012, the Company recorded an adjustment to reverse the remainder of the valuation allowance against certain deferred tax assets in Italy. A portion of the valuation allowance had been reversed during the three months ended November 30, 2011 due to an Italian tax law change. During the third quarter of fiscal 2012, the Company concluded that it is more likely than not that the Company will realize a benefit for the Italian deferred tax assets and therefore the remainder of the valuation allowance was reversed. Positive evidence for the reversal of the valuation allowance included the Italian entity becoming profitable on a three year cumulative basis and forecasted positive earnings for the current year.

A reconciliation of the statutory U.S. federal income tax rate with the effective tax rates for the nine months ended May 31, 2012 and 2011 is as follows:

	Nine months ended May 31, 2012			Nine months ended May 31, 2011		
	(In thousan	ds, except for	% S)			
Statutory U.S. tax rate	\$17,699	35.0	%	\$17,239	35.0	%
Amount of foreign taxes at less than U.S. statutory tax rate	(10,183) (20.1)	(10,945) (22.2)
U.S. and foreign losses with no tax benefit	2,274	4.5		5,655	11.5	
U.S. restructuring and other U.S. unusual charges with no benefit	641	1.3		1,061	2.2	
Italian valuation allowance adjustment	(2,380) (4.7)			
	1,692	3.3		21		

Establishment (resolution) of uncertain tax

positions

 Other
 324
 0.6
 644
 1.3

 Total income tax expense (benefit)
 \$10,067
 19.9
 % \$13,675
 27.8
 %

The effective tax rate for the nine months ended May 31, 2012 was less than the U.S. statutory rate primarily because of the Company's overall foreign rate being less than the U.S. statutory rate and an adjustment to the Italian valuation allowance.

- 9 -

Table of Contents
A. SCHULMAN, INC.
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(Unaudited)

These favorable effects on the Company's tax rate were partially offset by no tax benefits being recognized for U.S. and certain foreign losses as well as the establishment of uncertain tax positions. The change in the effective tax rate as compared with the same period last year was driven primarily by a decrease in the U.S. and foreign losses with no tax benefit.

The effective tax rate for the nine months ended May 31, 2011 was less than the U.S. statutory rate primarily because of the Company's overall foreign tax rate being less than the U.S. statutory rate. This favorable effect on the Company's tax rate was partially offset by no tax benefits being recognized for U.S. and certain foreign losses. (6) PENSION AND OTHER POSTRETIREMENT BENEFIT PLANS

The components of the Company's net periodic benefit cost for defined benefit pension plans and other postretirement benefits for the three and nine months ended May 31, 2012 and 2011 are shown below:

	Three months	ended May 31,	Nine months ended May 31,		
	2012	2011	2012	2011	
	(In thousands)				
Net periodic pension cost included the following					
components:					
Service cost	\$707	\$910	\$2,163	\$2,615	
Interest cost	1,290	1,242	3,919	3,585	
Expected return on plan assets	(325) (312) (971) (911)	
Net actuarial loss and net amortization of prior service cost	115	441	345	1,273	
Recognized gain due to plan curtailment	(101) —	(310) —	
Special termination benefits			79	_	
Net periodic benefit cost	\$1,686	\$2,281	\$5,225	\$6,562	
Postretirement benefit cost included the following					
components:		* 0	***		
Service cost	\$7	\$8	\$21	\$23	
Interest cost	152	187	455	560	
Net actuarial loss and net amortization of prior service cost (credit)	(140) (86) (420) (258	
Net periodic benefit cost	\$19	\$109	\$56	\$325	

- 10 -

Table of Contents

A. SCHULMAN, INC.

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(Unaudited)

(7) CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY

A summary of the changes in stockholders' equity for the nine months ended May 31, 2012 is as follows:

A summary of the changes in stockholders' equity for the nine months ended May 31, 2012 is as follows:										
	Common Stock	Additional Paid-In Capital	Accumulat Other Comprehen Income (Loss)		Retained Earnings	Treasury Stock	Noncontr Interests	ollin	gTotal Equity	
		nds, except p	er share dat	a)						
Balance as of September 1, 2011 Comprehensive income	347,816	\$254,184	\$ 50,007		\$541,256	\$(344,759)	\$ 5,801		\$554,30	5
(loss):										
Net income					39,651		850			
Foreign currency translatio gain (loss)	n		(55,945)			(61)		
Actuarial loss and amortization of prior service costs, net of tax of			(157)						
\$89										
Total comprehensive income (loss)									(15,662)
Cash dividends paid, \$0.53					(15,352)				(15,352)
per share Cash distributions to							(500	`	7500	,
noncontrolling interests							(580)	(580)
Purchase of treasury stock						(21,474)			(21,474)
Issuance of treasury stock		21				346			367	
Stock options exercised Redemption of common	41	692							733	
stock to cover tax withholdings	(17)	(358)							(375)
Restricted stock issued, net of forfeitures	108	736							844	
Amortization of restricted stock		2,698							2,698	
Balance as of May 31, 201						\$(365,887)		(CO)	\$505,50	
(8) COMPREHENSIVE IN		•							ME (LOS	S)
Comprehensive income (lo	iss) for the ti	iree and mine			ended May		months en		May 31	
			2012	11115	2011	2012		201	•	
			(In thousan	nds))					
Net income (loss)		`	\$17,248		\$18,924	\$40,			5,579	
Foreign currency translatio Unrecognized losses and pr	•		(33,850) 14,374	(56,0	ŕ	42,		
(credits), net			(127) 169	(157)	1,0	02	

Total comprehensive income (loss)	(16,729) 33,467	(15,662) 79,417	
Comprehensive (income) loss attributable to noncontrolling interests	(231) (170) (789) (441)
Comprehensive income (loss) attributable to A. Schulman, Inc.	\$(16,960) \$33,297	\$(16,451) \$78,976	

The foreign currency translation loss in the three and nine months ended May 31, 2012 was a result of the significant decrease in the value of the Euro against the U.S. dollar during the periods presented. Foreign currency translation gains or losses do not have a tax effect, as such gains or losses are considered permanently reinvested. Other comprehensive income (loss) adjustments related to pension plans are recorded net of tax using the applicable effective tax rate.

(9) INCENTIVE STOCK PLANS

- 11 -

Table of Contents

A. SCHULMAN, INC.

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(Unaudited)

On December 7, 2006, the Company adopted the 2006 Incentive Plan, which provides for the grant of incentive stock options, nonqualified stock options, whole shares, restricted stock awards, restricted stock units, stock appreciation rights, performance shares, performance units, cash-based awards, dividend equivalents and performance-based awards. Upon adoption of the 2006 Incentive Plan, all remaining shares eligible for award under a previous plan were added to the 2006 Incentive Plan. It has been the Company's practice to issue new shares of common stock upon stock option exercise and other equity grants. As of May 31, 2012, there were 20,312 shares of common stock available for grant pursuant to the Company's 2006 Incentive Plan.

On December 9, 2010, the Company's stockholders approved the adoption of the A. Schulman, Inc. 2010 Value Creation Rewards Plan ("2010 Rewards Plan") which provides for the grant of non-qualified stock options, incentive stock options, stock appreciation rights, restricted stock awards, restricted stock units, whole shares and performance-based awards. A total of 1,375,000 shares of common stock may be issued under the 2010 Rewards Plan. There have been no grants made from the 2010 Rewards Plan.

A summary of stock option activity for the nine months ended May 31, 2012 is as follows:

	Outstanding Shares Weighted-Av Under Option Exercise Price				
Outstanding at August 31, 2011	138,141	\$ 18.34			
Granted		\$ —			
Exercised	(40,686)	\$ 18.01			
Forfeited and expired		\$ —			
Outstanding at May 31, 2012	97,455	\$ 18.48			
Exercisable at May 31, 2012	97,455	\$ 18.48			

The intrinsic value of a stock option is the amount by which the market value of the underlying stock exceeds the exercise price of the option. The total intrinsic value for stock options outstanding and exercisable as of May 31, 2012 was approximately \$0.3 million with a remaining term for options outstanding and exercisable of approximately 1.7 years. The total intrinsic value of stock options exercised as of May 31, 2012 was approximately \$0.3 million. All outstanding and exercisable stock options are fully vested as of May 31, 2012. The Company did not grant stock options during the nine months ended May 31, 2012 and 2011.

Restricted stock awards under the 2006 Incentive Plan can vest over various periods, and restricted stock awards earn dividends throughout the vesting period which are subject to the same vesting terms as the underlying stock award. The restricted stock awards outstanding under the 2006 Incentive Plan have service vesting periods of three years following the date of grant. Also, the Company grants awards with market and performance vesting conditions. The following table summarizes the activity of time-based and performance-based restricted stock awards for the nine months ended May 31, 2012:

	Awards Ou	tstanding	Weighted-Average Fair Market Value (per share)		
	Time-	Performance-	Time-	Performance-	
	Based	Based	Based	Based	
Outstanding at August 31, 2011	117,891	800,193	\$20.98	\$14.44	
Granted	64,458	483,204	\$22.64	\$17.71	
Vested	(55,949) —	\$20.39	\$ 	
Forfeited	(4,783) (265,433	\$21.72	\$10.93	
Outstanding at May 31, 2012	121,617	1,017,964	\$22.10	\$16.90	

Restrictions on the time-based restricted stock awards lapse at the end of a three-year period, and the awards were valued at the fair market value on the date of grant. Time-based awards earn dividends throughout the vesting period

which are subject to the same vesting terms as the underlying restricted stock award.

Performance shares are awards for which the vesting will occur based on market or performance conditions and do not have voting rights. Included in the outstanding performance-based awards as of May 31, 2012 are 508,993 performance shares,

- 12 -

Table of Contents

A. SCHULMAN, INC.

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(Unaudited)

which earn dividends throughout the vesting period, and 508,971 performance shares which do not earn dividends. Earned dividends are subject to the same vesting terms as the underlying performance share awards. Performance shares granted during fiscal 2009, which would have vested during the second quarter of fiscal 2012, did not meet the performance vesting conditions and were forfeited.

The performance-based awards in the table above include 562,835 shares which are valued based upon a Monte Carlo simulation model, which is a valuation model that represents the characteristics of these grants. Vesting of the ultimate number of shares underlying such performance-based awards, if any, will be dependent upon the Company's total stockholder return in relation to the total stockholder return of a select group of peer companies over a three-year period. The probability of meeting the market criteria was considered when calculating the estimated fair market value on the date of the grant using a Monte Carlo simulation model. These awards were accounted for as awards with market conditions, which are recognized over the service period, regardless of whether the market conditions are achieved and the awards ultimately vest. The fair value of the remaining 455,129 performance shares in the table above is based on the closing price of the Company's common stock on the date of the grant.

The fair value of the performance shares granted during the nine months ended May 31, 2012 were estimated using a Monte Carlo simulation model with the following weighted-average assumptions:

Weighted-Average Assumptions

Dividend yield	3.00	%
Expected volatility	43.00	%
Risk-free interest rate	0.42	%
Correlation	61.00	%

Total unrecognized compensation cost, including a provision for forfeitures, related to nonvested stock-based compensation arrangements as of May 31, 2012 was approximately \$8.3 million. This cost is expected to be recognized over a weighted-average period of approximately 1.9 years.

During the third quarter of fiscal 2012, restrictions lapsed on 20,000 stock-settled restricted stock units. There were no service requirements for the vesting of this grant. These restricted stock units settled in shares of the Company's common stock, on a one-to-one basis, on the third anniversary of the award grant date. These awards earned dividends during the restriction period; however, they did not have voting rights until the restriction was released. There were no grants of these stock-settled restricted stock units during the nine months ended May 31, 2012 or May 31, 2011. The Company had approximately \$1.5 million and \$3.6 million of cash-based awards, which are treated as liability awards, outstanding as of May 31, 2012 and August 31, 2011, respectively. These awards were granted to foreign employees. Such awards include approximately \$0.1 million which have service vesting periods of three years following the date of grant and the remaining \$1.4 million is performance-based. The performance-based awards are based on the same conditions utilized for the performance shares. The Company records a liability for these cash-based awards equal to the amount of the award vested to date and adjusts the performance-based awards based on expected payout. There were no grants of these cash-based awards during the nine months ended May 31, 2012 and 2011.

In fiscal 2010, the Company's board of directors and stockholders approved adoption of an Employee Stock Purchase Plan ("ESPP") whereby employees may purchase Company stock through a payroll deduction plan. Purchases are made from the plan and credited to each participant's account at the end of each calendar quarter (the "Investment Date"). The purchase price of the stock is 85% of the fair market value on the Investment Date. The plan is compensatory and the 15% discount is expensed ratably over the three month offering period. All employees, including officers, are eligible to participate in this plan. An employee whose stock ownership of the Company exceeds five percent of the outstanding common stock is not eligible to participate in this plan. The Company recorded minimal expense related to the ESPP during the nine months ended May 31, 2012 and 2011. It is the Company's current practice to use treasury shares for the share settlement on the Investment Date.

In January 2012, the Company granted non-employee directors 37,300 shares of unrestricted common stock. The Company recorded compensation expense for this grant of approximately \$0.8 million in the second quarter of fiscal 2012.

The following table summarizes the impact to the Company's consolidated statements of operations from stock-based compensation for the three and nine months ended May 31, 2012 and 2011, which is primarily included in selling, general and administrative expenses in the accompanying consolidated statements of operations:

- 13 -

Table of Contents

A. SCHULMAN, INC.

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(Unaudited)

	Three months ended May 31,		Nine months ended May 3	
	2012	2011	2012	2011
	(In thousands)			
Time-based and performance-based restricted stock awards	\$1,106	\$1,169	\$3,562	\$3,604
Cash-settled restricted stock units	_	152	_	817
Cash-based awards	(54)	130	53	278
Total stock-based compensation	\$1,052	\$1,451	\$3,615	\$4,699

(10) EARNINGS PER SHARE

Basic earnings per share is computed by dividing income available to common stockholders by the weighted-average number of shares outstanding for the period. Diluted earnings per share reflects the potential dilution that could occur if common stock equivalents were exercised, and the impact of restricted stock awards expected to vest, which would then share in the earnings of the Company.

The difference between basic and diluted weighted-average shares results from the assumed exercise of outstanding stock options and grants of restricted stock, calculated using the treasury stock method. The following presents the number of incremental weighted-average shares used in computing diluted per share amounts for the three and nine months ended May 31, 2012 and 2011:

	Three months ended May 31,		Nine months ended May 31			
	2012	2011	2012	2011		
	(In thousands)					
Weighted-average shares outstanding:						
Basic	29,440	30,853	29,411	31,092		
Incremental shares from equity awards	129	208	174	197		
Diluted	29,569	31,061	29,585	31,289		
(44) GEGLESTE DIEGELE (4 EVOL)						

(11) SEGMENT INFORMATION

The Company considers its operating structure and the types of information subject to regular review by its President and Chief Executive Officer, who is the Chief Operating Decision Maker ("CODM"), to identify reportable segments. The CODM makes decisions, assesses performance and allocates resources by the following regions, which are also the Company's reportable segments: EMEA, the Americas, and Asia Pacific ("APAC"). Each reportable segment has a General Manager/Chief Operating Officer who reports to the CODM.

The CODM uses net sales to unaffiliated customers, gross profit and operating income before certain items in order to make decisions, assess performance and allocate resources to each segment. Segment operating income does not include items such as interest income or expense, other income or expense, foreign currency transaction gains or losses, restructuring related expenses, asset write-downs, costs related to business acquisitions and inventory step-up charges related to business acquisitions. Corporate expenses include the compensation of certain personnel, certain audit expenses, board of directors related costs, certain insurance costs, costs associated with being a publicly traded entity and other miscellaneous legal and professional fees.

Table of Contents

A. SCHULMAN, INC.

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(Unaudited)

The following table summarizes net sales to unaffiliated customers by segment for the three and nine months ended May 31, 2012 and 2011:

way 51, 2012 and 2011.				
	Three months of 2012	ended May 31, 2011	Nine months er 2012	nded May 31, 2011
	(In thousands)			
EMEA	\$383,852	\$435,982	\$1,069,304	\$1,139,197
Americas	147,059	137,940	404,685	371,611
APAC	38,196	37,220	108,318	104,060
Total net sales to unaffiliated customers	\$569,107	\$611,142	\$1,582,307	\$1,614,868
Below the Company presents gross profit by segment				
		ended May 31,	Nine months er	
	2012	2011	2012	2011
	(In thousands)			
EMEA	\$49,612	\$54,742	\$133,926	\$150,314
Americas	21,273	19,363	60,796	51,749
APAC	5,784	4,783	16,589	12,721
Total segment gross profit	76,669	78,888	211,311	214,784
Inventory step-up	(80) —	(677)	(283)
Total gross profit	\$76,589	\$78,888	\$210,634	\$214,501
Below is a reconciliation of segment operating income	me to operating	income and inco	me before taxes f	or the three and
nine months ended May 31, 2012 and 2011:				
	Three months	ended May 31,	Nine months er	nded May 31,
	2012	2011	2012	2011
	(In thousands)			
EMEA	\$23,413	\$25,726	\$57,953	\$66,850
Americas	7,869	4,892	19,323	12,091
APAC	2,913	1,698	7,976	3,890
Total segment operating income	34,195	32,316	85,252	82,831
Corporate and other	(6,195) (5,493	(18,567)	(21,252)
Costs related to acquisitions	(192) 319	(1,066)	(876)
Restructuring related	(1,944) (1,843) (6,785	(5,779)
Asset write-downs	(2,586) (125	(2,586)	(1,925)
Curtailment gain (loss)	101		310	
Inventory step-up	(80) —	(677)	(283)
Operating income	23,299	25,174	55,881	52,716
Interest expense, net	(1,635		(5,857)	(4,138)
Foreign currency transaction gains (losses)	(53	/ \) (569	(1,398)
Other income (expense), net	60	1,637	1,113	2,074
Income before taxes	\$21,671	\$25,149	\$50,568	\$49,254

Table of Contents

A. SCHULMAN, INC.

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(Unaudited)

Globally, the Company operates primarily in four product families: (1) masterbatch, (2) engineered plastics, (3) specialty powders and (4) distribution services. The amount and percentage of consolidated net sales for these product families for the three and nine months ended May 31, 2012 and 2011 are as follows:

	Three months ended May 31,					
	2012			2011		
	(In thousands)					
Masterbatch	\$242,046	43	%	\$243,556	40	%
Engineered plastics	141,214	25		154,175	25	
Specialty powders	92,405	16		102,927	17	
Distribution services	93,442	16		110,484	18	
	\$569,107	100	%	\$611,142	100	%
	Nine months ended May 31,					
	2012			2011		
	(In thousands)				
Masterbatch	\$653,031	41	%	\$647,933	40	%
Engineered plastics	409,459	26		401,228	25	
Specialty powders	256,982	16		279,289	17	
Distribution services	262,835	17		286,418	18	
	\$1.582.307	100	%	\$1.614.868	100	%

(12) RESTRUCTURING

EMEA Operations and Back-Office Plan

In November 2011, the Company initiated a restructuring plan of EMEA's operations and back-office functions to better leverage savings from its Shared Service Center located in Belgium. As part of this plan, the Company reduced headcount in EMEA by approximately 50, and the majority of the reductions occurred in the first and second quarters of fiscal 2012. The Company recorded approximately \$0.7 million and \$4.6 million of pretax employee-related restructuring costs during the three and nine months ended May 31, 2012, respectively. As of May 31, 2012, the Company has a balance of approximately \$1.5 million accrued for employee-related costs related to this plan. The Company expects minimal employee-related cash charges related to this plan during the remainder of fiscal 2012 as it completes the plan.

Americas Engineered Plastics Plan

On August 25, 2011, the Company announced that it would close the Nashville, Tennessee facility and move certain production to the Akron and Bellevue, Ohio facilities in order to optimize the use of existing capacity and capitalize on growth opportunities. As of the end of February 2012, the Nashville facility ceased production and as of May 31, 2012, the Company reduced headcount by approximately 70. The Company recorded approximately \$0.9 million and \$1.4 million of pretax employee-related restructuring expense associated with this plan during the three and nine months ended May 31, 2012, respectively. As of May 31, 2012, the Company has a balance of approximately \$0.6 million accrued for employee-related costs related to this plan. The Company anticipates recognizing additional pre-tax employee-related cash charges and other restructuring expenses of less than \$1.0 million during the remainder of fiscal 2012 as it completes the plan.

Italy and Australia Plans

On February 8, 2011, the Company announced that it is relocating its operations from its manufacturing facility in Verolanuova, Italy to its existing facility in Gorla Maggiore, Italy. Production lines at the Verolanuova facility were relocated in the first quarter of fiscal 2012 to the Gorla facility. As a result of this relocation, the Company will reduce headcount by approximately 30 by the end of June 2012. Also on February 8, 2011, as a result of the ongoing

deterioration of the Australian rotomolding market, the Company announced plans to consolidate operations in Australia by moving production from its Braeside, Australia facility to its Brisbane, Australia facility. As part of this consolidation, the Company reduced headcount in Australia by approximately 20, and the majority of the reduction occurred in the second and third quarters of fiscal 2011. The region continues to be served by the Company's Brisbane facility and facilities in Malaysia, Indonesia and China.

- 16 -

Table of Contents

A. SCHULMAN, INC.

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(Unaudited)

The Company recorded pretax restructuring expense of approximately \$0.1 million and \$0.7 million during the three and nine months ended May 31, 2012, respectively, primarily related to other restructuring costs as part of the Italy plan. For the three and nine months ended May 31, 2011, the Company recorded pretax restructuring expense of approximately \$1.8 million and \$4.9 million, respectively, primarily for employee-related costs and other restructuring charges related to the Australia and Italy restructuring plans. As of May 31, 2012, the Company has a balance of approximately \$1.4 million accrued for employee-related costs related to the Italy plan. In regards to the Italy plan, the Company expects minimal employee-related cash charges related to this plan during the remainder of fiscal 2012 as it completes the plan. As of May 31, 2012, the Company has a balance of approximately \$0.3 million accrued for the Australia plan related to a future settlement of a contractual obligation and expects no additional charges related to this plan for the remainder of fiscal 2012.

See Note 4 for further details regarding the pre-tax impairment charge of approximately \$2.4 million recognized in the third quarter of fiscal 2012 related to the Italy plan.

ASI United Kingdom Plan

On August 31, 2010, management announced plans to restructure its operations at its Crumlin, South Wales (U.K.) facility. The plan included moving part of the plant's capacity to two other, larger facilities in Europe, and several production lines were shut down. As a result, the Company reduced headcount at this location by approximately 30. Approximately half of the reductions occurred in the second quarter of fiscal 2011 and the remaining headcount reductions occurred in the second quarter of fiscal 2012. The Company recorded minimal charges during the three and nine months ended May 31, 2012 and 2011. The Company expects no further charges and has no remaining accrual as of May 31, 2012 related to this plan as it is considered complete.

ICO Merger Plan

In conjunction with the acquisition of ICO, Inc. ("ICO") in fiscal 2010, the Company reduced the workforce in the Houston, Texas office by 17 employees. ICO had preexisting arrangements regarding change-in-control payments and severance pay which were based on pre-merger service. The Company assumed approximately \$2.1 million in liabilities as a result of the merger related to these agreements, of which approximately \$2.0 million was paid by the Company during fiscal 2010. Since the merger, the Company announced the exit of certain senior managers in Europe in connection with the Company's ongoing integration of ICO operations. The Company recorded approximately \$0.1 million and \$0.5 million primarily in pretax employee-related costs during the three and nine months ended May 31, 2011, respectively, related to the integration of the ICO merger. The Company had no charges in the first nine months of fiscal 2012 and has no remaining accrual as of May 31, 2012 related to this plan as it is considered complete. North America Masterbatch Fiscal 2010 Plan

On March 1, 2010, the Company announced the closure of its Polybatch Color Center located in Sharon Center, Ohio. The Company recorded minimal pretax restructuring expenses during the three months ended May 31, 2011, and \$0.4 million during the nine months ended May 31, 2011, primarily for employee-related costs associated with the closure. The Company ceased production at the Polybatch Color Center on August 31, 2010, and sold the facility in June 2011. The Company had no charges in the first nine months of fiscal 2012 and has no remaining accrual as of May 31, 2012 related to this plan as it is considered complete.

Consolidated Restructuring Summary

The following table summarizes the activity during fiscal 2012 related to the Company's restructuring plans:

The reme wing twelf summarizes the well-ruly during	5 110001 = 0 1 = 1010	rea to the compt	, 5 105010000		5 P
	Accrual BalanceFiscal 2012 August 31, 2011Charges		Fiscal 2012 Paid		Accrual Balance
					May 31, 2012
	(In thousands)				
Employee-related costs	\$3,322	\$5,484	\$(5,100)	3,706
Other costs	403	1,301	(1,313)	391
Translation effect	70				(376)

Restructuring charges

\$3,795

\$6,785

\$(6,413

) \$3,721

Restructuring costs are excluded from segment operating income but are attributable to the reportable segments as follows:

- 17 -

Table of Contents
A. SCHULMAN, INC.
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(Unaudited)

	Three months ended May 31,		Nine months ended May 31,		
	2012	2011	2012	2011	
	(In thousands)				
EMEA	\$1,076	\$300	\$5,422	\$2,622	
Americas	868	56	1,363	518	
APAC	_	1,487	_	2,639	
Total	\$1,944	\$1,843	\$6,785	\$5,779	

(13) CONTINGENCIES AND CLAIMS

In the normal course of business, the Company is at times subject to pending and threatened legal actions, some for which the relief or damages sought may be substantial. Although the Company is not able to predict the outcome of such actions, after reviewing all pending and threatened actions with counsel and based on information currently available, management believes that the outcome of such actions, individually or in the aggregate, will not have a material adverse effect on the results of operations or financial position of the Company. However, it is possible that the ultimate resolution of such matters, if unfavorable, may be material to the results of operations in a particular future period as the time and amount of any resolution of such actions and its relationship to the future results of operations are not currently known.

Reserves are established for legal claims only when losses associated with the claims are judged to be probable, and the loss can be reasonably estimated. In many lawsuits and arbitrations, it is not possible to determine whether a liability has been incurred or to estimate the ultimate or minimum amount of that liability until the case is close to resolution, in which case no reserve would be recognized until that time.

(14) SHARE REPURCHASE PROGRAM

On April 1, 2011, the Board of Directors approved a three-year share repurchase program under which the Company is authorized to repurchase up to \$100 million of its common stock in the open market or in privately negotiated transactions, subject to market and other conditions ("2011 Repurchase Program"). The 2011 Repurchase Program replaces the Company's previous share repurchase program which was approved in fiscal 2008 ("2008 Repurchase Program").

As part of the 2011 Repurchase Program, on May 12, 2011, the Company entered into a one-year \$30 million share repurchase plan established under Rule 10b5-1 of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (the "Repurchase Plan"). Under the Repurchase Plan, the Company's designated broker repurchased 1,218,429 shares of its common stock under the 2011 Repurchase Program in the first quarter of fiscal 2012 at an average price of approximately \$17.60 per share. As of October 10, 2011, the Company fulfilled the Repurchase Plan by repurchasing a cumulative 1,603,979 shares of its common stock in fiscal 2011 and the first quarter of fiscal 2012 at an average price of approximately \$18.70 per share.

On November 28, 2011, the Company entered into a new 18-month \$30 million share repurchase plan established under Rule 10b5-1 of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, and repurchases under this plan are subject to specific parameters and contain certain price and volume constraints. The Company has not repurchased any shares of common stock under the new repurchase plan. Shares of common stock valued at approximately \$70 million remained authorized for repurchase as of May 31, 2012.

(15) ACCOUNTING PRONOUNCEMENTS

In June 2011, the Financial Accounting Standards Board ("FASB") issued new accounting guidance related to the presentation of comprehensive income in consolidated financial statements. The new accounting guidance requires the presentation of the components of net income and other comprehensive income either in a single continuous financial statement, or in two separate but consecutive financial statements. The accounting standard eliminates the option to present other comprehensive income and its components as part of the statement of stockholders' equity. This standard was effective for fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2011, including interim periods. The Company will adopt

this standard for the first quarter of fiscal 2013.

In September 2011, the FASB issued new accounting guidance related to the testing of goodwill for impairment. The new accounting guidance permits an entity to first assess qualitative factors to determine whether it is more likely than not that the fair value of a reporting unit is less than its carrying amount as a basis for determining whether it is necessary to perform the two-step goodwill impairment test. Previous guidance required an entity to test goodwill for impairment quantitatively, on at least an annual basis, by comparing the fair value of a reporting unit with its carrying amount (step one). If the fair value of a reporting unit was less than its carrying amount, the second step of the test was required to be performed to measure the

- 18 -

Table of Contents

A. SCHULMAN, INC.

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(Unaudited)

amount of the impairment loss, if any. This standard was effective for annual and interim goodwill impairment tests performed for fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2011, and early adoption is permitted.

(16) SUBSEQUENT EVENT

On June 9, 2012, the Company entered into a joint venture agreement ("Agreement") with National Petrochemical Industrial Company ("NATPET") of Jeddah, Saudi Arabia ("KSA"), a subsidiary of Alujain Corporation, a Saudi Stock Exchange listed company.

The 50-50 venture formed by the Agreement, expected to be named NATPET-Schulman Engineering Plastic Compounds, will produce and globally sell polypropylene compounds. The venture is planning to build a polypropylene compounding plant in Yanbu, KSA, where production is expected to begin by the end of calendar year 2014.

Under the terms of the Agreement, the Company's initial equity investment in the venture will be approximately \$14 million. Initial project costs, including construction of the facility and infrastructure needs as well as working capital requirements, are estimated to be approximately \$70 million. Beyond the initial equity investment by the partners, the joint venture intends to take advantage of various low-interest loan options provided by the Saudi Industrial Development Fund and other lending institutions.

- 19 -

Table of Contents

Item 2 – Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations

This Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations ("MD&A") is intended to help investors understand our results of operations, financial condition and present business environment. The MD&A is provided as a supplement to, and should be read in conjunction with, our unaudited consolidated financial statements and related notes included elsewhere in this Quarterly Report and the Company's Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended August 31, 2011. The MD&A is organized as follows:

Overview: From management's point of view, we discuss the

following:

Summary of our business and the markets in which we operate;

Key trends, developments and

challenges; and

Significant events during the current fiscal year.

Results of Operations: An analysis of our results of operations as reflected in our consolidated financial statements. Liquidity and Capital Resources: An analysis of our cash flows, working capital, debt structure, contractual obligations and other commercial commitments.

Overview

Business Summary

A. Schulman, Inc. is a leading international supplier of high-performance plastic compounds and resins headquartered in Akron, Ohio. The Company's customers span a wide range of markets such as packaging, consumer products, industrial and automotive, among others. The Chief Operating Decision Maker makes decisions, assesses performance and allocates resources by the following regions which represent our reportable segments:

Europe, Middle East and Africa ("EMEA"),

Americas, and

Asia Pacific ("APAC").

The Company has approximately 3,100 employees and 35 manufacturing facilities worldwide. Globally, the Company operates primarily in four product families: (1) masterbatch, (2) engineered plastics, (3) specialty powders, and (4) distribution services. The Company offers tolling services to customers in all product families except for distribution services.

Throughout this Management's Discussion and Analysis, the Company provides operating results exclusive of certain items such as costs related to acquisitions, restructuring related expenses and asset write-downs, which are considered relevant to aid analysis and understanding of the Company's results and business trends.

Key Trends, Developments and Challenges

The following developments and trends present opportunities, challenges and risks as we work toward our goal of providing attractive returns for all of our stakeholders:

Continuous Improvement. We are focused on improving our operations worldwide including the training of approximately 60 employees in Six Sigma Black Belt and Green Belt certification programs. As we continue to further integrate our recent acquisitions, we are constantly examining certain synergies that can be utilized to optimize our processes and performance. We are also controlling our selling, general and administrative expenses, especially in developed markets.

Development of New Products. In each of our product families, we are dedicated to the development of new, higher-margin products and applications that optimize the appearance, performance, and processing of plastics to meet the most demanding requirements. We strive to maintain a balanced position between low-cost production and technological leadership with focused research and development. We are also committed to continuing our growth in high value-added markets and reducing our exposure to commodity markets.

Purchasing and Pricing. We are seeking opportunities to continue our savings on purchasing and to establish smart pricing strategies to align with our purchasing strategies. We continue to leverage our global volume base to enhance savings and are searching for alternate sourcing from the Middle East and Asia.

Volume Improvement. We remain focused on organic and geographic growth including acquisitions to deliver steady volume improvement.

Table of Contents

Fiscal Year 2012 Significant Events

- In addition to the items discussed above, the following items represent significant events during fiscal year 2012: Increase in dividend. In October 2011, the Company increased its regular quarterly cash dividend by approximately 10% to \$0.17 per common share from the prior quarter's dividend of \$0.155 per common share. In March 2012, the
- 1. Company increased its regular quarterly cash dividend to \$0.19 per common share, which represented a total increase of approximately 23% compared to fiscal 2011. This reflects the Company's confidence in its ability to generate cash and its long-term growth prospects, along with a continued commitment to shareholders. Share Repurchases. The Company repurchased approximately 1.2 million shares of its common stock under the
- 2.2011 Repurchase Program in the first quarter of fiscal 2012 at an average price of \$17.60 per share for a total cost of approximately \$21.4 million.
- 3. India Plant. The Company continues with the construction of its plant in India with expected completion by the end of calendar year 2012.
- Worldwide Production Expansion. To address increasing regional demand, the Company strategically added new engineered plastics manufacturing lines in China and Mexico, a new masterbatch line in Brazil and new specialty powders equipment in Mexico, France, Holland, and Italy. In fiscal 2012, the Company plans to invest
- approximately \$7 million in its Akron, Ohio plant to add engineered plastics compounding capabilities to the facility as part of the optimization of capacity in the United States, of which approximately \$6 million was invested in the first nine months of fiscal 2012.
 - EMEA and Americas Restructuring. In November 2011, the Company initiated a restructuring plan of EMEA's operations and back-office functions to better leverage savings from its Shared Service Center located in Belgium.
- 5. Additionally, the Americas Nashville, Tennessee facility ceased production at the end of February 2012 and has transferred production to the Akron and Bellevue, Ohio plants to optimize the use of existing capacity and capitalize on growth opportunities.
 - Business Acquisition. On January 31, 2012, the Company acquired Elian SAS for approximately \$66.5 million. Elian provides specialty formulated color concentrates to end markets such as packaging, cosmetics, personal
- 6. hygiene, healthcare, and pipes and tubing products that require demanding customer specifications. Elian offers superior quality, technology and responsiveness to its diversified customer base. The acquisition of Elian moves the Company into France's color masterbatch market and improves the Company's product mix in the EMEA region.
- Corporate Headquarters. In April 2012, the Company announced it will move its corporate headquarters to a new leased location in Fairlawn, Ohio in calendar year 2013. The new facility will also serve as the Company's U.S. headquarters which includes relocating certain associates from its Product Technology
- Company's U.S. headquarters which includes relocating certain associates from its Product Technology Center in Akron, Ohio.
- Joint Venture Agreement. On June 9, 2012, the Company entered into a joint venture agreement with National Petrochemical Industrial Company ("NATPET") of Jeddah, Saudi Arabia ("KSA"), a subsidiary of Alujain Corporation, a Saudi Stock Exchange listed company. The 50-50 venture, expected to be named
- NATPET-Schulman Engineering Plastic Compounds, will produce and globally sell polypropylene compounds. The venture is planning to build a polypropylene compounding plant in Yanbu, KSA, where production is expected to begin by the end of calendar year 2014.
 - Global Innovation Centers. In June 2012, the Company announced the opening of two global innovation centers in Germany and Mexico as part of our continuing focus on market-driven innovation. These centers will help us
- 9. strengthen our relationships with customers, suppliers and other technical partners by further aligning our global technology and product development efforts with the current requirements and emerging needs of our customers and end-markets.

Results of Operations Segment Information EMEA

	Three mont	ths ended May	y 31,		Nine months		
	2012	2011	Increase (decrease	se)	2012	2011	Increase (decrease)
	(In thousan	ds, except for	%'s and per poun	d dat	ta)		
Net sales	\$383,852	\$435,982	\$(52,130) (12.0)%	\$1,069,304	\$1,139,197	\$(69,893) (6.1)%
Segment gross profit	\$49,612	\$54,742	\$(5,130) (9.4)%	\$133,926	\$150,314	\$(16,388) (10.9)%
Segment operating income	\$23,413	\$25,726	\$(2,313) (9.0)%	\$57,953	\$66,850	\$(8,897) (13.3)%
Pounds sold	309,200	338,233	(29,033) (8.6)%	882,292	969,073	(86,781) (9.0)%
Price per pound	\$1.241	\$1.289	\$(0.048) (3.7)%	\$1.212	\$1.176	\$0.036 3.1 %
Gross profit per pound	\$0.160	\$0.162	\$(0.002) (1.2)%	\$0.152	\$0.155	\$(0.003) (1.9)%
Gross profit percentage	12.9 %	5 12.6 %)		12.5	% 13.2 %)

Three months ended May 31, 2012

EMEA net sales for the three months ended May 31, 2012 were approximately \$383.9 million, a decrease of approximately \$52.1 million, or 12.0%, compared with the prior-year period. Foreign currency translation negatively impacted net sales by approximately \$20.4 million. The decrease in net sales was significantly impacted by reduced volume across all product families due to the economic environment in Europe, partially offset by approximately \$9.3 million in incremental net sales from the Elian acquisition. Excluding foreign currency translation, price per pound increased approximately 1.4% to \$1.307 per pound compared with the prior-year period primarily due to the masterbatch product family.

EMEA gross profit was approximately \$49.6 million for the three months ended May 31, 2012, a decrease from approximately \$54.7 million for the same three-month period last year. Foreign currency translation negatively impacted EMEA gross profit by approximately \$2.5 million, which was partially offset by a contribution from the Elian acquisition. Excluding the foreign currency impact, gross profit per pound increased approximately 4.0% primarily in the engineered plastics and specialty powders product families offset by an overall decrease in volume of approximately 8.6% compared with the prior-year period.

EMEA operating income for the three months ended May 31, 2012 was approximately \$23.4 million, a decrease of approximately \$2.3 million compared with the same period last year. The decrease in operating income was primarily due to the decrease in gross profit offset by a positive contribution from the Elian acquisition and a reduction of approximately \$2.8 million in selling, general and administrative expense as a result of realization of savings from restructuring initiatives. Foreign currency translation negatively impacted operating income by approximately \$1.2 million.

Nine months ended May 31, 2012

EMEA net sales for the nine months ended May 31, 2012 were approximately \$1,069.3 million, a decrease of approximately \$69.9 million, or 6.1%, compared with the prior-year period. Foreign currency translation negatively impacted net sales by approximately \$43.4 million. The decrease in net sales was also attributable to reduced volume across all product families as a result of the economic environment in Europe partially offset by an increase of approximately 3.1% in price per pound primarily in the masterbatch and engineered plastics product families and approximately \$13.0 million in incremental net sales from the Elian acquisition. Excluding the impact of foreign currency, price per pound increased approximately 7.2% to \$1.261 per pound.

EMEA gross profit was approximately \$133.9 million for the nine months ended May 31, 2012, a decrease from approximately \$150.3 million for the same nine-month period last year primarily as a result of reduced volume across all product families and a decrease in gross profit per pound primarily in the specialty powders and distribution services product families. Foreign currency translation adversely impacted EMEA gross profit by approximately \$5.1

million, which was partially offset by a positive contribution from the Elian acquisition. Excluding the foreign currency impact, gross profit per pound increased approximately 1.6%.

EMEA operating income for the nine months ended May 31, 2012 was approximately \$58.0 million, a decrease of approximately \$8.9 million compared with the same period last year. The decrease in operating income was primarily due to the decrease in gross profit partially offset by a decrease of approximately \$7.5 million in selling, general and administrative expenses compared with the prior year. Selling, general and administrative expenses were reduced as a result of EMEA's successful restructuring initiatives and its continued aggressive actions to control costs. Foreign currency translation adversely impacted EMEA operating income by

- 22 -

approximately \$2.3 million.

Americas

	Three months ended May 31,						Nine months ended May 31,								
	2012		2011		Increase	e (c	decreas	se)	2012		2011		Increase (decreas	se)
	(In thousa	ınd	s, except fo	or	%'s and	pe	r pound	d dat	a)						
Net sales	\$147,059		\$137,940		\$9,119		6.6	%	\$404,685		\$371,611		\$33,074	8.9	%
Segment gross profit	\$21,273		\$19,363		\$1,910		9.9	%	\$60,796		\$51,749		\$9,047	17.5	%
Segment operating income	\$7,869		\$4,892		\$2,977		60.9	%	\$19,323		\$12,091		\$7,232	59.8	%
Pounds sold	155,705		164,586		(8,881)	(5.4)%	439,415		468,716		(29,301)	(6.3)%
Price per pound	\$0.944		\$0.838		\$0.106		12.6	%	\$0.921		\$0.793		\$0.128	16.1	%
Gross profit per pound	\$0.137		\$0.118		\$0.019		16.1	%	\$0.138		\$0.110		\$0.028	25.5	%
Gross profit percentage	14.5	%	14.0	%					15.0	%	13.9	%			

Three months ended May 31, 2012

Net sales for the Americas for the three months ended May 31, 2012 were approximately \$147.1 million, an increase of approximately \$9.1 million or 6.6% compared with the prior-year period. The increase in net sales was a result of the approximate 12.6% increase in price per pound, which was primarily attributable to the specialty powders and masterbatch product families, as well as approximately \$4.1 million of incremental fiscal 2012 net sales from a fiscal 2011 acquisition. The decrease in volume of approximately 8.9 million pounds was primarily related to the masterbatch product family partially offset by increased volume in the specialty powders and engineered plastics product families. Foreign currency translation negatively impacted net sales by approximately \$3.8 million. Excluding the foreign currency impact, price per pound increased approximately 15.6% to \$0.969 per pound compared with the prior-year period.

Gross profit for the Americas was approximately \$21.3 million for the three months ended May 31, 2012, an increase of approximately \$1.9 million from the comparable period last year. The increases in gross profit and gross profit per pound of approximately 9.9% and 16.1%, respectively, were primarily in the engineered plastics product family. The Company was able to increase margins by improving product mix and implementing operational efficiencies from the Americas restructuring initiatives. In addition, a fiscal 2011 acquisition positively contributed incremental fiscal 2012 gross profit. Foreign currency translation negatively impacted gross profit by approximately \$0.6 million. Excluding the impact of foreign currency, gross profit per pound increased approximately 19.0% compared with the prior-year period.

Operating income for the Americas for the three months ended May 31, 2012 was approximately \$7.9 million compared with approximately \$4.9 million last year. Operating income increased primarily due to improved gross profit per pound and a decrease of approximately \$1.1 million in selling, general and administrative expenses. The decline in selling, general and administrative expenses was primarily due to successful restructuring initiatives and cost control efforts realized as a result of the Nashville, Tennessee facility shutdown, partially offset by incremental expenses from a fiscal 2011 acquisition. Foreign currency translation negatively impacted operating income by approximately \$0.3 million.

Nine months ended May 31, 2012

Net sales for the Americas for the nine months ended May 31, 2012 were approximately \$404.7 million, an increase of approximately \$33.1 million or 8.9% compared with the prior-year period. The increase in net sales was a result of the approximate 16.1% increase in price per pound, which was spread across all product families, as well as approximately \$16.4 million of incremental fiscal 2012 net sales from fiscal 2011 acquisitions. The decrease in volume of approximately 29.3 million pounds was primarily related to the masterbatch product family. Foreign currency translation negatively impacted net sales by approximately \$10.6 million. Excluding the foreign currency impact, price per pound increased approximately 19.2% to \$0.945 per pound compared with the prior-year period.

Gross profit for the Americas was approximately \$60.8 million for the nine months ended May 31, 2012, an increase of approximately \$9.0 million from the comparable period last year. The increases in gross profit and gross profit per pound of approximately 17.5% and 25.5%, respectively, were primarily in the masterbatch, specialty powders and engineered plastics product families. The Company was able to improve margins in light of rising raw material costs by improving product mix and implementing operational efficiencies. In addition, the fiscal 2011 acquisitions positively contributed incremental fiscal 2012 gross profit. Foreign currency translation negatively impacted gross profit by approximately \$2.0 million. Excluding the impact of foreign currency, gross profit per pound increased approximately 29.9% compared with the prior-year period.

- 23 -

Operating income for the Americas for the nine months ended May 31, 2012 was approximately \$19.3 million compared with approximately \$12.1 million last year. Operating income increased primarily due to improved gross profit per pound offset by an increase of approximately \$1.8 million in selling, general and administrative expenses. The increase in selling, general and administrative expenses was primarily a result of incremental expenses from fiscal 2011 acquisitions. Foreign currency translation negatively impacted operating income by approximately \$0.9 million. APAC

	Three mont	nree months ended May 31,				Nine months ended May 31,					
	2012	2011	Increase	(decrea	se)	2012	2011	Increase	(decreas	e)	
	(In thousand	ds, except for	%'s and p	per pour	nd d	lata)					
Net sales	\$38,196	\$37,220	\$976	2.6	%	\$108,318	\$104,060	\$4,258	4.1	%	
Segment gross profit	t\$5,784	\$4,783	\$1,001	20.9	%	\$16,589	\$12,721	\$3,868	30.4	%	
Segment operating income	\$2,913	\$1,698	\$1,215	71.6	%	\$7,976	\$3,890	\$4,086	105.0	%	
Pounds sold	33,264	32,595	669	2.1	%	91,460	98,845	(7,385)	(7.5)%	
Price per pound	\$1.148	\$1.142	\$0.006	0.5	%	\$1.184	\$1.053	\$0.131	12.4	%	
Gross profit per pound	\$0.174	\$0.147	\$0.027	18.4	%	\$0.181	\$0.129	\$0.052	40.3	%	
Gross profit percentage	15.1 %	12.9 %				15.3	6 12.2				

Three months ended May 31, 2012

Net sales for APAC for the three months ended May 31, 2012 were approximately \$38.2 million, an increase of approximately \$1.0 million compared with the same prior-year period due to increased volume and the favorable impact of foreign currency translation. The increase in volume of approximately 2.1% was primarily related to the masterbatch and engineered product families partially offset by the specialty powders product family.

Gross profit for APAC for the three months ended May 31, 2012 was approximately \$5.8 million, an increase of approximately 20.9% compared with last year. The increase in gross profit and gross profit per pound were primarily due to successful restructuring initiatives with the Braeside, Australia plant closure and consolidation which improved the cost structure. In addition, APAC continued its focus on products with higher technical requirements. Foreign currency translation had a minimal impact on gross profit.

APAC operating income for the three months ended May 31, 2012 was approximately \$2.9 million compared with approximately \$1.7 million last year. The increase in profitability was principally due to the increase in gross profit and a slight decrease in selling, general and administrative expenses. Foreign currency translation did not have a significant impact on operating income.

Nine months ended May 31, 2012

Net sales for APAC for the nine months ended May 31, 2012 were approximately \$108.3 million, an increase of approximately \$4.3 million compared with the same prior-year period. Net sales increased as a result of improved selling price per pound of approximately 12.4% partially offset by a decrease in volume of approximately 7.5%. Foreign currency translation favorably impacted net sales by approximately \$1.9 million. The increase in net sales was primarily related to the masterbatch and engineered plastics product families partially offset by decreased net sales in the specialty powders product family. The reduction in volume was primarily attributable to a decline in specialty powders export net sales due to the general economic climate in Europe.

Gross profit for APAC for the nine months ended May 31, 2012 was approximately \$16.6 million, an increase of approximately \$3.9 million or 30.4% compared with last year. The increase in gross profit and gross profit per pound were primarily due to Braeside, Australia plant closure and consolidation in connection with successful restructuring initiatives that have improved the cost structure. In addition, APAC continued its focus on products with higher technical requirements. Foreign currency translation had a favorable impact on gross profit of approximately \$0.3 million.

APAC operating income for the nine months ended May 31, 2012 was approximately \$8.0 million compared with approximately \$3.9 million last year. The increase in profitability was principally due to the increase in gross profit.

Foreign currency translation favorably impacted operating income by approximately \$0.2 million.

- 24 -

Consolidated Results of Operations

	Three mont	hs ended Ma	y 31,		Nine month	s ended May 31,			
	2012	2011	Increase (decre	rease)	2012	2011	Increase (d	lecreas	se)
	(In thousan	ds, except for	r %'s and per po	ound dat	a)				
Net sales	\$569,107	\$611,142	\$(42,035) (6.	.9)%	\$1,582,307	\$1,614,868	\$(32,561)	(2.0))%
Total segment gross profit	\$76,669	\$78,888	\$(2,219) (2.	.8)%	\$211,311	\$214,784	\$(3,473)	(1.6)%
Total segment operating income	\$34,195	\$32,316	\$1,879 5.8	8 %	\$85,252	\$82,831	\$2,421	2.9	%
Pounds sold	498,169	535,414	(37,245) (7.	.0)%	1,413,167	1,536,634	(123,467)	(8.0))%
Price per pound	\$1.142	\$1.141	\$0.001 0.1	1 %	\$1.120	\$1.051	\$0.069	6.6	%
Total segment gross profit per pound	\$0.154	\$0.147	\$0.007 4.8	8 %	\$0.150	\$0.140	\$0.010	7.1	%
Total segment gross profit percentage	13.5 %	5 12.9 %	6		13.4	% 13.3 %			

Three months ended May 31, 2012

The decrease of approximately \$42.0 million in consolidated net sales for the three months ended May 31, 2012 compared with the prior-year period was primarily a result of the approximate \$23.5 million negative impact of foreign currency translation and a decrease in volume of approximately 7.0%.

Total segment gross profit, excluding certain items as described in the Reconciliation of GAAP and Non-GAAP Financial Measures section below, for the three months ended May 31, 2012 was approximately \$76.7 million, compared with approximately \$78.9 million last year. Total segment gross profit percentages increased across all regions as a result of the continued improvement in product mix and the impact of successful restructuring initiatives. Excluding the foreign currency impact, total segment gross profit increased by approximately \$0.8 million. The Company's selling, general and administrative expenses, excluding certain items as described in the Reconciliation of GAAP and Non-GAAP Financial Measures section below, decreased approximately \$3.4 million for the three months ended May 31, 2012 compared with the same period in the prior year. The decrease was primarily

attributable to the Company realizing selling, general and administrative expense synergies in connection with the continued integration of acquisitions and efforts to control costs. Additionally, total incentive and equity compensation expense decreased approximately \$0.8 million. Foreign currency translation favorably impacted selling, general and administrative expense by approximately \$1.6 million.

Total segment operating income, excluding certain items as described in the Reconciliation of GAAP and Non-GAAP Financial Measures section below, for the three months ended May 31, 2012 was approximately \$34.2 million, an increase of approximately \$1.9 million compared with last year. Foreign currency translation had a negative impact on operating income of approximately \$1.3 million.

Nine months ended May 31, 2012

Foreign currency translation adversely impacted consolidated net sales by approximately \$52.1 million. Excluding the foreign currency impact, consolidated net sales increased approximately \$19.5 million. The Company was able to increase the average selling price per pound by approximately 10.0%, excluding the impact of foreign currency, which offset the volume decrease of approximately 8.0%.

Total segment gross profit, excluding certain items as described in the Reconciliation of GAAP and Non-GAAP Financial Measures section below, for the nine months ended May 31, 2012 was approximately \$211.3 million. Excluding the foreign currency impact, total segment gross profit increased approximately \$3.3 million, compared with last year, primarily as a result of successful restructuring initiatives and increased average selling price per pound.

The Company's selling, general and administrative expenses, excluding certain items as described in the Reconciliation of GAAP and Non-GAAP Financial Measures section below, decreased approximately \$8.6 million for

the nine months ended May 31, 2012 compared with the same period in the prior year. The decrease was primarily attributable to the Company realizing selling, general and administrative expense synergies in connection with the continued integration of acquisitions and efforts to control costs. Additionally, total incentive and equity compensation expense decreased approximately \$2.6 million, offset by an increase in bad debt expense of approximately \$2.0 million. Foreign currency translation favorably impacted selling, general and administrative expense by approximately \$3.8 million.

Total segment operating income, excluding certain items as described in the Reconciliation of GAAP and Non-GAAP Financial

- 25 -

Table of Contents

Measures section below, for the nine months ended May 31, 2012 was approximately \$85.3 million, an increase of approximately \$2.4 million compared with last year. Foreign currency translation had a negative impact on operating income of approximately \$3.0 million.

The Company recorded asset impairment charges of approximately \$2.6 million for the three and nine months ended May 31, 2012 primarily related to the write-down to estimated fair value of the Company's facility in Verolanuova, Italy as a result of Italy restructuring initiatives, further discussed in Note 12. The Company recorded asset impairment charges of approximately \$0.1 million and \$1.9 million for the three and nine months ended May 31, 2011, respectively, associated with the closure of the Polybatch Color Center located in Sharon Center, Ohio. Interest expense, net of interest income, increased approximately \$1.7 million for the nine months ended May 31, 2012, as compared with the same period in the prior year primarily due to increased average outstanding principal balances as a result of the January 31, 2012 acquisition of Elian and higher average interest rates. As of May 31, 2012, debt previously incurred related to the acquisition of Elian was repaid.

Foreign currency transaction gains or losses represent changes in the value of currencies in major areas where the Company operates. The Company experienced foreign currency transaction losses of approximately \$0.1 million and \$0.6 million for the three and nine months ended May 31, 2012, respectively, compared with foreign currency transaction losses of approximately \$0.1 million and \$1.4 million during the three and nine months ended May 31, 2011, respectively. Generally, the foreign currency transaction gains or losses relate to the changes in the value of the U.S. dollar compared with the Euro and other local currencies throughout the Americas, EMEA, and APAC regions, and also changes between the Euro and other non-Euro European currencies. The Company enters into foreign exchange forward contracts to reduce the impact of changes in foreign exchange rates on the consolidated statements of operations. These contracts reduce exposure to currency movements affecting the translation of foreign currency denominated assets and liabilities primarily related to trade receivables and payables. Any gains or losses associated with these contracts, as well as the offsetting gains or losses from the underlying assets or liabilities, are recognized on the foreign currency transaction line in the consolidated statements of operations.

Other income for the three and nine months ended May 31, 2012 was approximately \$0.1 million and \$1.1 million, respectively, compared with approximately \$1.6 million and \$2.1 million for the three and nine months ended May 31, 2011, respectively. The third quarter of fiscal 2011 included a gain of approximately \$1.2 million related to a sale of property.

Noncontrolling interests represent a 49% equity position of Alta Plastica S.A. in an Argentinean venture with the Company, 30% equity position of Mitsubishi Chemical MKV Company in a partnership with the Company and a 35% equity position of P.T. Prima Polycon Indah in an Indonesian joint venture with the Company. The Company's partnership with Mitsubishi Chemical MKV Company was dissolved by a vote of the partners effective December 31, 2011.

Net income attributable to the Company's stockholders was approximately \$17.0 million and \$18.8 million for the three months ended May 31, 2012 and 2011, respectively, and approximately \$39.7 million and \$35.1 million for the nine months ended May 31, 2012 and 2011, respectively. Foreign currency translation had a negative impact of approximately \$0.8 million and \$1.6 million on net income for the three and nine months ended May 31, 2012. Product Markets

The largest markets served by the Company are the packaging and automotive markets. Other markets include appliances, medical, consumer products, electrical/electronics, office equipment, agriculture and construction. The approximate percentage of consolidated net sales by market for the three and nine months ended May 31, 2012 as compared with May 31, 2011 is as follows:

	Three months ended May 31, 2012						Three months ended May 31, 2011					
	Packaging		Automotiv	/e	Other		Packaging		Automotiv	/e	Other	
EMEA	34	%	11	%	55	%	31	%	11	%	58	%
Americas	21	%	15	%	64	%	21	%	18	%	61	%
APAC	54	%	0	%	46	%	45	%	0	%	55	%
Worldwide	32	%	11	%	57	%	30	%	12	%	58	%

	Nine months ended May 31, 2012						Nine mon	ths ended May 31, 2011				
	Packaging		Automotiv	Automotive			Packaging	,	Automotiv	/e	Other	
EMEA	32	%	11	%	57	%	31	%	10	%	59	%
Americas	21	%	16	%	63	%	20	%	19	%	61	%
APAC	52	%	0	%	48	%	45	%	0	%	55	%
Worldwide	31	%	11	%	58	%	30	%	11	%	59	%

Product Families

Globally, the Company operates primarily in four product families: (1) masterbatch, (2) engineered plastics, (3) specialty powders and (4) distribution services. The amount and percentage of consolidated net sales for these product families for the three and nine months ended May 31, 2012 and 2011 are as follows:

	Three months	s ended May	31,			
	2012			2011		
	(In thousands	3)				
Masterbatch	\$242,046	43	%	\$243,556	40	%
Engineered plastics	141,214	25		154,175	25	
Specialty powders	92,405	16		102,927	17	
Distribution services	93,442	16		110,484	18	
	\$569,107	100	%	\$611,142	100	%
	Nine months					
	2012			2011		
	(In thousands)				
Masterbatch	\$653,031	41	%	\$647,933	40	%
Engineered plastics	409,459	26		401,228	25	
Specialty powders	256,982	16		279,289	17	
Distribution services	262,835	17		286,418	18	
	\$1,582,307	100	%	\$1,614,868	100	%

Capacity

The Company's practical capacity is not based on a theoretical 24-hour, seven-day operation, rather it is determined as the production level at which the manufacturing facilities can operate with an acceptable degree of efficiency, taking into consideration factors such as longer term customer demand, permanent staffing levels, operating shifts, holidays, scheduled maintenance and mix of product. Capacity utilization is calculated by dividing actual production pounds by practical capacity at each plant. A comparison of capacity utilization levels for the three and nine months ended May 31, 2012 and 2011 are as follows:

	Three months ended May 31,				Nine months ended May 31,			
	2012		2011		2012		2011	
EMEA	87	%	85	%	81	%	79	%
Americas	70	%	67	%	67	%	64	%
APAC	90	%	81	%	84	%	86	%
Worldwide	80	%	78	%	75	%	74	%

Restructuring

EMEA Operations and Back-Office Plan

In November 2011, the Company initiated a restructuring plan of EMEA's operations and back-office functions to better leverage savings from its Shared Service Center located in Belgium. As part of this plan, the Company reduced headcount in EMEA by approximately 50, and the majority of the reductions occurred in the first and second quarters of fiscal 2012. The Company recorded

Table of Contents

approximately \$0.7 million and \$4.6 million of pretax employee-related restructuring costs during the three and nine months ended May 31, 2012, respectively. As of May 31, 2012, the Company has a balance of approximately \$1.5 million accrued for employee-related costs related to this plan. The Company expects minimal employee-related cash charges related to this plan during the remainder of fiscal 2012 as it completes the plan.

Americas Engineered Plastics Plan

On August 25, 2011, the Company announced that it would close the Nashville, Tennessee facility and move certain production to the Akron and Bellevue, Ohio facilities in order to optimize the use of existing capacity and capitalize on growth opportunities. As of the end of February 2012, the Nashville facility ceased production and as of May 31, 2012, the Company reduced headcount by approximately 70. The Company recorded approximately \$0.9 million and \$1.4 million of pretax employee-related restructuring expense associated with this plan during the three and nine months ended May 31, 2012, respectively. As of May 31, 2012, the Company has a balance of approximately \$0.6 million accrued for employee-related costs related to this plan. The Company anticipates recognizing additional pre-tax employee-related cash charges and other restructuring expenses of less than \$1.0 million during the remainder of fiscal 2012 as it completes the plan.

Italy Plan

On February 8, 2011, the Company announced that it is relocating its operations from its manufacturing facility in Verolanuova, Italy to its existing facility in Gorla Maggiore, Italy. Production lines at the Verolanuova facility were relocated in the first quarter of fiscal 2012 to the Gorla facility. As a result of this relocation, the Company will reduce headcount by approximately 30 by the end of June 2012.

The Company recorded pretax restructuring expense of approximately \$0.1 million and \$0.7 million during the three and nine months ended May 31, 2012, respectively. For the three and nine months ended May 31, 2011, the Company recorded pretax restructuring expense of approximately \$0.3 million and \$2.3 million, respectively, primarily for employee-related costs and other restructuring charges. As of May 31, 2012, the Company has a balance of approximately \$1.4 million accrued for employee-related costs. The Company expects minimal employee-related cash charges related to this plan during the remainder of fiscal 2012 as it completes the plan.

See Note 12 for further details regarding the Company's restructuring activities.

Consolidated Restructuring Summary

The following table summarizes the activity during fiscal 2012 related to the Company's restructuring plans:

	Accrual Bal	lanceFiscal 2012	Fiscal 2012	Accrual B	alance
	August 31,	2011Charges	Paid	May 31, 2	012
	(In thousand	ds)			
Employee-related costs	\$3,322	\$5,484	\$(5,100) 3,706	
Other costs	403	1,301	(1,313) 391	
Translation effect	70			(376)
Restructuring charges	\$3,795	\$6,785	\$(6,413) \$3,721	
Income Tax					

A reconciliation of the statutory U.S. federal income tax rate with the effective tax rates for the three months ended May 31, 2012 and 2011 is as follows:

- 28 -

Table of Contents

	Three months ended				Three mo		
	May 31, 2	2012			May 31, 2		
	(In thousa	ınds,	except fo	r %'s)			
Statutory U.S. tax rate	\$7,585		35.0	%	\$8,802	35.0	%
Amount of foreign taxes at less than U.S. statutory ta	^x (4,177)	(19.3)	(3,915) (15.6)
U.S. and foreign losses with no tax benefit	518		2.4		1,320	5.3	
U.S. restructuring and other U.S. unusual charges wit no benefit	th 391		1.8		(147) (0.6)
Italian valuation allowance adjustment	(1,633)	(7.5)	_	_	
Establishment (resolution) of uncertain tax positions	1,674		7.7		34	0.1	
Other	65		0.3		131	0.6	
Total income tax expense (benefit)	\$4,423		20.4	%	\$6,225	24.8	%

The effective tax rate for the three months ended May 31, 2012 was less than the U.S. statutory rate primarily because of the Company's overall foreign rate being less than the U.S. statutory rate and an adjustment to the Italian valuation allowance. These favorable effects on the Company's tax rate were partially offset by no tax benefits being recognized for U.S. and certain foreign losses as well as the establishment of uncertain tax positions. The change in the effective rate as compared with the same period last year was driven primarily by a decrease in the U.S. and foreign losses with no tax benefit.

The effective tax rate for the three months ended May 31, 2011 was less than the U.S. statutory rate primarily because of the Company's overall foreign rate being less than the U.S. statutory rate. This favorable effect on the Company's tax rate was partially offset by no tax benefits being recognized for U.S. and certain foreign losses.

During the three months ended May 31, 2012, the Company recorded an adjustment to reverse the remainder of the valuation allowance against certain deferred tax assets in Italy. A portion of the valuation allowance had been reversed during the three months ended November 30, 2011 due to an Italian tax law change. During the third quarter of fiscal 2012, the Company concluded that it is more likely than not that the Company will realize a benefit for the Italian deferred tax assets and therefore the remainder of the valuation allowance was reversed. Positive evidence for the reversal of the valuation allowance included the Italian entity becoming profitable on a three year cumulative basis and forecasted positive earnings for the current year.

A reconciliation of the statutory U.S. federal income tax rate with the effective tax rates for the nine months ended May 31, 2012 and 2011 is as follows:

Nine months ended				Nine mont		
May 31, 2	012			May 31, 2	011	
(In thousa	nds,	except fo	or %'s)			
\$17,699		35.0	%	\$17,239	35.0	%
ax (10,183)	(20.1)	(10,945) (22.2)
2,274		4.5		5,655	11.5	
641		1.3		1,061	2.2	
(2,380)	(4.7)	_		
1,692		3.3		21		
324		0.6		644	1.3	
\$10,067		19.9	%	\$13,675	27.8	%
	May 31, 2 (In thousa \$17,699 ax (10,183 2,274 641 (2,380 1,692 324	May 31, 2012 (In thousands, \$17,699 ax (10,183) 2,274 641 (2,380) 1,692 324	May 31, 2012 (In thousands, except for \$17,699 35.0) ax (10,183) (20.1) 2,274 4.5 641 1.3 (2,380) (4.7) 1,692 3.3 324 0.6	May 31, 2012 (In thousands, except for %'s) \$17,699	May 31, 2012 May 31, 2 (In thousands, except for %'s) \$17,699 35.0 % \$17,239 ax (10,183) (20.1) (10,945 2,274 4.5 5,655 641 1.3 1,061 (2,380) (4.7) — 1,692 3.3 21 324 0.6 644	May 31, 2012 May 31, 2011 (In thousands, except for %'s) \$17,699 35.0 % \$17,239 35.0 ax (10,183) (20.1) (10,945) (22.2 2,274 4.5 5,655 11.5 641 1.3 1,061 2.2 (2,380) (4.7) — — 1,692 3.3 21 — 324 0.6 644 1.3

The effective tax rate for the nine months ended May 31, 2012 was less than the U.S. statutory rate primarily because of the Company's overall foreign rate being less than the U.S. statutory rate and an adjustment to the Italian valuation allowance. These favorable effects on the Company's tax rate were partially offset by no tax benefits being recognized for U.S. and certain foreign losses as well as the establishment of uncertain tax positions. The change in the effective tax rate as compared with the same period last year was driven primarily by a decrease in the U.S. and foreign losses

with no tax benefit.

The effective tax rate for the nine months ended May 31, 2011 was less than the U.S. statutory rate primarily because of the Company's overall foreign tax rate being less than the U.S. statutory rate. This favorable effect on the Company's tax rate was partially offset by no tax benefits being recognized for U.S. and certain foreign losses.

- 29 -

Table of Contents

Goodwill

Generally, goodwill recorded in business combinations is more susceptible to risk of impairment soon after the acquisition primarily because the business combination is recorded at fair value based on operating plans and economic conditions present at the time of the acquisition. If operating results or economic conditions deteriorate soon after an acquisition, it could result in the impairment of the acquired goodwill.

Goodwill is tested for impairment at the reporting unit level on an annual basis in the fourth quarter and between annual tests if an event occurs or circumstances change that would more likely than not reduce the fair value of a reporting unit below its carrying value.

During the second quarter of fiscal 2012, the actual operating results of the EMEA Specialty Powders ("EMEA SP") reporting unit declined below forecasted results due to overall economic conditions. The decline in actual operating results led the Company to conclude that a triggering event for review of potential goodwill impairment had occurred. Accordingly, the Company performed an interim goodwill impairment evaluation for the EMEA SP reporting unit. The test to evaluate goodwill for impairment is a two step process. In the first step, the reporting unit's fair value is compared to its carrying value. If such comparison indicates a potential impairment, the second step of the impairment evaluation requires a valuation of the reporting unit's tangible and intangible assets and liabilities in a manner similar to the allocation of purchase price in a business combination. If the resulting implied fair value of the reporting unit's goodwill is less than its carrying value, that difference represents an impairment.

The fair value used in step one of the EMEA SP goodwill impairment analysis was estimated using a combination of the income and market approaches, which contain significant unobservable inputs, based on average earnings before interest, taxes, depreciation and amortization, and cash flow multiples.

The Company completed the step one EMEA SP goodwill impairment analysis in the second quarter of fiscal 2012 and concluded that there was no goodwill impairment because the fair value of the reporting unit exceeded its carrying value by approximately 8%. The EMEA SP reporting unit had approximately \$18 million of goodwill as of May 31, 2012.

The Company concluded there were no triggering events which would have required a goodwill impairment test as of May 31, 2012.

Reconciliation of GAAP and Non-GAAP Financial Measures

The Company uses the following non-GAAP financial measures of net income excluding certain items and net income per diluted share excluding certain items. These financial measures are used by management to monitor and evaluate the ongoing performance of the Company and to allocate resources. The Company believes that the additional measures are useful to investors for financial analysis. However, non-GAAP measures are not in accordance with, nor are they a substitute for, GAAP measures.

The tables below reconcile net income excluding certain items and net income per diluted share excluding certain items to net income and net income per diluted share for the three months ended May 31, 2012 and 2011. Restructuring related costs include items such as employee severance charges, lease termination charges, curtailment gains and other employee termination costs. Inventory step-up costs are related to the adjustment for the fair value of inventory acquired as a result of acquisition purchase accounting. Tax benefits (charges) include the effect of the adjustment to the Italian valuation allowance in fiscal 2012 and the realization of certain deferred tax assets in the first nine months of fiscal 2011 as a result of the fiscal 2010 ICO acquisition.

- 30 -

Table of Contents

Three months ended May 31, 2012	As Reporte	Asset Write	- Costs Relate to Acquisition		g Inventory Step-up	Tax Benefit (Charges)	s Before Certain Items	n
Net sales Cost of sales	(In thousar \$569,107 492,518	nds, except pe \$— —	_	\$ <u> </u>	\$— (80)	\$— —	\$ 569,107 492,438	
Selling, general and administrative expenses	48,861	_	(192) —	_	_	48,669	
Restructuring expense Asset impairment Curtailment (gain) loss Operating income Interest expense, net	1,944 2,586 (101) 23,299 1,635			(1,944) — 101 1,843 —	80			
Foreign currency transaction (gains) losses	53	_	_	_	_	_	53	
Other (income) expense, net	(60)	_	_	_	_	_	(60)	
Income before taxes Provision (benefit) for	21,671	2,586	192	1,843	80	_	26,372	
U.S. and foreign income taxes	4,423	669	45	287	27	260	5,711	
Net income Noncontrolling interests	17,248 (252)	1,917 —	147 —	1,556 —	53	(260)	20,661 (252)	
Net income attributable to A. Schulman, Inc.	\$16,996	\$1,917	\$ 147	\$1,556	\$53	\$ (260)	\$ 20,409	
Diluted EPS	\$0.57						\$ 0.69	
Weighted-average number of shares	29,569						29,569	
outstanding—diluted Three months ended May 31, 2011	As Repor	Asset Writ ted downs		ed Restructuri	ing Inventor Step-up	y Tax Benefi (Charges)	itBefore Certain Items	n
- , -	(In thousa		er share data)			(= 11 & 11)		
Net sales Cost of sales	\$611,142 532,254	_	\$ — —	\$ — —	\$— —	\$ — —	\$ 611,142 532,254	
Selling, general and administrative expenses	51,746	_	319	_	_	_	52,065	
Restructuring expense	1,843		_	(1,843) —		_	
Asset impairment	125	(125	(210					
Operating income Interest expense, net	25,174 1,602	125	(319) 1,843	_	_	26,823 1,602	
Foreign currency transaction (gains) losses	60	_	_		_	_	60	
Other (income) expense, net	(1,637) —	_	_	_	_	(1,637)	
Income before taxes Provision (benefit) for	25,149	125	(319) 1,843	_		26,798	
U.S. and foreign income taxes	6,225	_	37	95	_	_	6,357	
Net income	18,924	125	(356) 1,748		_	20,441	
Noncontrolling interests	(170) —		-	_	_	(170)	

Net income attributable to	¢ 10 751	\$ 125	\$ (356) \$ 1,748	\$	\$ —	\$ 20,271
A. Schulman, Inc.	\$10,734	\$123	\$ (330) \$ 1,740	\$ —	5 —	\$ 20,271
Diluted EPS	\$0.60						\$ 0.65
Weighted-average number	,						
of shares	31,061						31,061
outstanding—diluted							

The tables below reconcile net income excluding certain items and net income per diluted share excluding certain items to net income and net income per diluted share for the nine months ended May 31, 2012 and 2011.

- 31 -

Table of Contents

Nine months ended May 31, 2012	As Reported	Asset Write downs	e-Costs Relate to Acquisition		gInventory Step-up	Tax Benefi (Charges)	tsBefore Certain Items
Net sales Cost of sales	(In thousand \$1,582,307 1,371,673	s, except per \$—	•	\$ <i>-</i>	\$— (677)	\$— —	\$ 1,582,307 1,370,996
Selling, general and administrative expenses	145,692	_	(1,066)	_	_	_	144,626
Restructuring expense Asset impairment Curtailment (gain) loss Operating income Interest expense, net	6,785 2,586 (310) 55,881 5,857			(6,785) — 310 6,475 —			
Foreign currency transaction (gains) losses Other (income) expense,	569 (1,113)	_	_	_	_	_	569 (1,113)
net Income before taxes	50,568	2,586	1,066	6,475	677	_	61,372
Provision (benefit) for U.S. and foreign income taxes	10,067	669	114	1,571	226	967	13,614
Net income Noncontrolling interests	40,501 (850)	1,917 —	952 —	4,904 —	451 —	(967) —	47,758 (850)
Net income attributable to A. Schulman, Inc.	\$39,651	\$1,917	\$ 952	\$ 4,904	\$451	\$ (967)	\$ 46,908
Diluted EPS Weighted-average number of shares	\$1.34 29,585						\$ 1.59 29,585
outstanding—diluted Nine months ended May 31, 2011	As Reported	downs	to Acquisitio		ngInventory Step-up	Tax Benefit (Charges)	tsBefore Certain Items
NT / 1	(In thousand	s, except per		ф	ф	Ф	Φ 1 (14 0(0
Net sales Cost of sales	\$1,614,868 1,400,367	_	\$ — —	\$ — —	\$— (283)	\$ — —	\$ 1,614,868 1,400,084
Selling, general and administrative expenses	154,081		(876)			_	153,205
Restructuring expense	5,779	_	_	(5,779)		_	_
Asset impairment	1,925	(1,925)	_	_	_	_	
Operating income Interest expense, net	52,716 4,138	1,925	876	5,779	283		61,579 4,138
Foreign currency transaction (gains) losses	1,398	_	_	_	_	_	1,398
Other (income) expense, net	(2,074)	_	_	_	_	_	(2,074)
Income before taxes Provision (benefit) for	49,254	1,925	876	5,779	283		58,117
U.S. and foreign income taxes	13,675	_	37	824	99	65	14,700
Net income	35,579	1,925	839	4,955	184	(65)	43,417
Noncontrolling interests	(441)	_	_	_	_	_	(441)

Net income attributable	\$35,138	\$1,925	\$ 839	\$ 4,955	\$184	\$ (65)	\$ 42,976
to A. Schulman, Inc.	ψ33,130	Ψ1,723	Ψ 037	Ψ 4,233	Ψ10-1	φ (05)	Ψ 42,270
Diluted EPS	\$1.12						\$ 1.37
Weighted-average							
number of shares	31,289						31,289
outstanding—diluted							

Liquidity and Capital Resources

Net cash provided from operations was approximately \$34.5 million and net cash used in operations was approximately \$6.0 million for the nine months ended May 31, 2012 and 2011, respectively. The improvement of \$40.5 million in cash provided by operations was primarily due to the improvement in working capital management for the nine months ended May 31, 2012 as compared to the prior year.

The Company's cash and cash equivalents decreased approximately \$86.3 million from August 31, 2011. This decrease was driven

- 32 -

Table of Contents

primarily by the acquisition of Elian SAS for approximately \$64.9 million in net cash consideration (funded in Euros), the repurchase of treasury shares totaling approximately \$21.5 million, expenditures for capital projects of approximately \$27.5 million, and dividend payments of approximately \$15.4 million. Combined, these four uses of cash and cash equivalents totaled \$129.3 million, and were offset by increased net borrowings on revolving credit facilities of approximately \$27.1 million and net cash provided from operations.

The Company's approximate working capital days are summarized as follows:

	May 31, 2012	August 31, 2011	May 31, 2011
Days in receivables	51	54	55
Days in inventory	50	48	54
Days in payables	42	42	44
Total working capital days	59	60	65

- 33 -

The following table summarizes certain key balances on the Company's consolidated balance sheets and related metrics:

	May 31, 2012	August 31, 2011	\$ Change	% Change	
	(In thousands,	except for %'s)			
Cash and cash equivalents	\$69,453	\$155,753	\$(86,300) (55.4)%
Working capital, excluding cash	\$251,086	\$273,964	\$(22,878) (8.4)%
Long-term debt	\$167,752	\$184,598	\$(16,846) (9.1)%
Total debt	\$203,785	\$196,148	\$7,637	3.9	%
Net debt*	\$134,332	\$40,395	\$93,937	232.5	%
Total A. Schulman, Inc.'s stockholders' equity	\$499,494	\$548,504	\$(49,010) (8.9)%

^{*} Total debt less cash and cash equivalents

As of May 31, 2012, approximately 96% of the Company's cash and cash equivalents were held by its foreign subsidiaries, compared to approximately 87% as of August 31, 2011. The increase in the percentage of cash and cash equivalents held by foreign subsidiaries as of May 31, 2012 as compared to August 31, 2011 is primarily due to the distribution of cash from the Company's European subsidiaries to the U.S. at the end of fiscal 2011. The majority of these foreign cash balances are associated with earnings that we have asserted are permanently reinvested and which we plan to use to support continued growth plans outside the U.S. through funding of capital expenditures, acquisitions, operating expenses or other similar cash needs of foreign operations. From time to time, we repatriate cash from foreign subsidiaries to the U.S. for normal operating needs and service outstanding debt through intercompany dividends. These dividends are typically paid out of current year earnings that we have not asserted to be permanently reinvested.

Working capital, excluding cash, was approximately \$251.1 million as of May 31, 2012, a decrease of approximately \$22.9 million from August 31, 2011. The primary reasons for the decrease in working capital from August 31, 2011 included a decrease of approximately \$26.0 million in accounts receivable and an increase of approximately \$24.5 million in short-term debt offset by an increase in inventory of approximately \$2.9 million and decreases in accrued liabilities and accounts payable of approximately \$16.9 million and \$5.7 million, respectively. The translation effect of foreign currencies, primarily the Euro, decreased accounts receivable by approximately \$39.8 million and inventory by approximately \$30.8 million. Excluding the impact of translation of foreign currencies, accounts receivable increased approximately \$13.8 million, and inventory increased approximately \$33.7 million. The increase in inventory is primarily due to increased tonnage. Accounts payable increased approximately \$24.0 million, excluding the impact of foreign currency, primarily as a result of the aforementioned increase in inventory.

Capital expenditures for the nine months ended May 31, 2012 were approximately \$27.5 million compared with approximately \$18.4 million last year. Capital expenditures for fiscal year 2012 primarily relate to additional manufacturing lines to address increasing regional demand and the investment in the Akron, Ohio plant to add engineering plastics compounding capabilities.

In the second quarter of fiscal 2011, the Company and certain of its wholly-owned subsidiaries entered into a Credit Agreement which provides for an aggregate revolving loan facility (the "Revolving Facility") not to exceed \$300 million. For further discussion regarding the Company's Revolving Facility, refer to Note 5 in the Company's Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended August 31, 2011. As of May 31, 2012, the Company was not in violation of any of its covenants relating to the Revolving Facility. The Company was well within compliance with these covenants and does not believe a covenant violation is reasonably possible as of May 31, 2012. The Revolving Facility matures on January 7, 2016. As of May 31, 2012, the amount available under the Revolving Facility was reduced by outstanding letters of credit of approximately \$1.7 million and borrowings of approximately \$111.0 million which is included in long-term debt in the Company's consolidated balance sheet.

On March 1, 2006, the Company issued senior guaranteed notes ("Senior Notes") in the private placement market consisting of the following:

\$30.0 million of Senior Notes in the United States, maturing on March 1, 2013, with a variable interest rate of LIBOR plus 80 bps ("Dollar Notes"). The Company may, at its option, prepay all or part of the Dollar Notes. As of May 31,

2012, the Dollar Notes are classified as short-term debt in the Company's consolidated balance sheet. €50.3 million of Senior Notes in Germany, maturing on March 1, 2016, with a fixed interest rate of 4.485% ("Euro Notes"). The Euro Notes approximated \$62.4 million as of May 31, 2012.

The Senior Notes are guaranteed by the Company's wholly-owned domestic subsidiaries and contain covenants substantially identical to those in the \$300 million Revolving Facility. As of May 31, 2012, the Company was not in violation of any of its covenants relating to the Senior Notes. The Company was well within compliance with these covenants and does not believe a

- 34 -

Table of Contents

covenant violation is reasonably possible as of May 31, 2012.

Both the Revolving Facility and the Senior Notes are supported by up to 65% of the capital stock of certain of the Company's directly owned foreign subsidiaries.

Below summarizes the Company's available funds as of May 31, 2012 and August 31, 2011:

	May 31, 2012	August 31, 2011	
	(In thousands)		
Credit Facility	\$300,000	\$300,000	
Foreign uncollateralized short-term lines of credit	47,610	65,436	
Total gross available funds from credit lines and notes	\$347,610	\$365,436	
Credit Facility	\$187,299	\$213,121	
Foreign uncollateralized short-term lines of credit	41,663	58,437	
Total net available funds from credit lines and notes	\$228.962	\$271.558	

Total net available funds from credit lines and notes represents the total gross available funds from credit lines and notes less outstanding borrowings of approximately \$116.9 million and approximately \$92.0 million as of May 31, 2012 and August 31, 2011, respectively, and issued letters of credit of approximately \$1.7 million and \$1.9 million as of May 31, 2012 and August 31, 2011, respectively.

The Company was in a net debt position of approximately \$134.3 million and approximately \$40.4 million as of May 31, 2012 and August 31, 2011, respectively. The change of approximately \$93.9 million was a result of a decrease in cash and cash equivalents of approximately \$86.3 million and an increase in total debt of approximately \$7.6 million due to the acquisition of Elian, dividend payments, share repurchases, working capital needs and capital expenditures.

During the three and nine months ended May 31, 2012, the Company declared and paid quarterly cash dividends of \$0.19 and \$0.53 per common share, respectively. The total amount of these dividends was approximately \$5.4 million and \$15.4 million, respectively. Cash flow has been sufficient to fund the payment of these dividends.

On April 1, 2011, the Board of Directors approved a three-year share repurchase program under which the Company is authorized to repurchase up to \$100 million of its common stock in the open market or in privately negotiated transactions, subject to market and other conditions ("2011 Repurchase Program"). The 2011 Repurchase Program replaces the Company's previous share repurchase program which was approved in fiscal 2008 ("2008 Repurchase Program").

As part of the 2011 Repurchase Program, on May 12, 2011, the Company entered into a one-year \$30 million share repurchase plan established under Rule 10b5-1 of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (the "Repurchase Plan"). Under the Repurchase Plan, the Company's designated broker repurchased 1,218,429 shares of its common stock under the 2011 Repurchase Program in the first quarter of fiscal 2012 at an average price of approximately \$17.60 per share. As of October 10, 2011, the Company fulfilled the Repurchase Plan by repurchasing a cumulative 1,603,979 shares of its common stock in fiscal 2011 and the first quarter of fiscal 2012 at an average price of approximately \$18.70 per share.

On November 28, 2011, the Company entered into a new 18-month \$30 million share repurchase plan established under Rule 10b5-1 of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, and repurchases under this plan are subject to specific parameters and contain certain price and volume constraints. The Company has not repurchased any shares of common stock under the new repurchase plan. Shares of common stock valued at approximately \$70 million remained authorized for repurchase as of May 31, 2012.

The Company has foreign currency exposures primarily related to the Euro, British pound sterling, Polish zloty, Canadian dollar, Mexican peso, Australian dollar, Indian rupee, Malaysian ringgit, Chinese yuan, Brazilian real, and Indonesian rupiah. The assets and liabilities of the Company's foreign subsidiaries are translated into U.S. dollars using current exchange rates. Income statement items are translated at average exchange rates prevailing during the period. The resulting translation adjustments are recorded in the accumulated other comprehensive income (loss) account in stockholders' equity. A significant portion of the Company's operations uses the Euro as its functional currency. The change in the value of the U.S. dollar during the nine months ended May 31, 2012 decreased the accumulated other

comprehensive income (loss) account by approximately \$56.0 million which was primarily the result of an approximate 14.2% decrease in the value of the Euro from 1.445 Euros to 1 U.S. dollar as of August 31, 2011 to 1.2403 as of May 31, 2012.

Cash flow from operations, borrowing capacity under the credit facilities and current cash and cash equivalents are expected to

- 35 -

Table of Contents

provide sufficient liquidity to maintain the Company's current operations and capital expenditure requirements, pay dividends, repurchase shares, pursue acquisitions and service outstanding debt.

Contractual Obligations

As of May 31, 2012, there were no material changes to the Company's future contractual obligations as previously reported in the Company's 2011 Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended August 31, 2011. Operating lease information is provided in Note 12 to the consolidated financial statements in the Company's 2011 Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended August 31, 2011 as there has been no significant changes. The Company's outstanding commercial commitments as of May 31, 2012 are not material to the Company's financial position, liquidity or results of operations.

Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements

The Company does not have any off-balance sheet arrangements as of May 31, 2012.

Critical Accounting Policies

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets, liabilities, revenues and expenses, and related disclosures of contingent assets and liabilities. Management bases its estimates on historical experience and other factors it believes to be reasonable under the circumstances, the results of which form the basis for making judgments about the carrying values of assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent from other sources. Actual results could differ from those estimates. The Company's critical accounting policies are the same as discussed in the Company's Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended August 31, 2011.

Accounting Pronouncements

For a discussion of accounting pronouncements, see Note 15 to the consolidated financial statements in this Quarterly Report.

Cautionary Statements

A number of the matters discussed in this document that are not historical or current facts deal with potential future circumstances and developments and may constitute "forward-looking statements" within the meaning of the Private Securities Litigation Reform Act of 1995. Forward-looking statements can be identified by the fact that they do not relate strictly to historic or current facts and relate to future events and expectations. Forward-looking statements contain such words as "anticipate," "estimate," "expect," "project," "intend," "plan," "believe," and other words and terms of s meaning in connection with any discussion of future operating or financial performance. Forward-looking statements are based on management's current expectations and include known and unknown risks, uncertainties and other factors, many of which management is unable to predict or control, that may cause actual results, performance or achievements to differ materially from those expressed or implied in the forward-looking statements. Important factors that could cause actual results to differ materially from those suggested by these forward-looking statements, and that could adversely affect the Company's future financial performance, include, but are not limited to, the following:

worldwide and regional economic, business and political conditions, including continuing economic uncertainties in some or all of the Company's major product markets or countries where the Company has operations; the effectiveness of the Company's efforts to improve operating margins through sales growth, price increases, productivity gains, and improved purchasing techniques; competitive factors, including intense price competition;

fluctuations in the value of currencies in major areas where the Company

operates;

volatility of prices and availability of the supply of energy and raw materials that are critical to the manufacture of the Company's products, particularly plastic resins derived from oil and natural gas;

changes in customer demand and requirements;

effectiveness of the Company to achieve the level of cost savings, productivity improvements, growth and other benefits anticipated from acquisitions, joint ventures and restructuring initiatives; escalation in the cost of providing employee health care;

Table of Contents

uncertainties regarding the resolution of pending and future litigation and other claims;

the performance of the global automotive market; and

further adverse changes in economic or industry conditions, including global supply and demand conditions and prices for products.

The risks and uncertainties identified above are not the only risks the Company faces. Additional risk factors that could affect the Company's performance are set forth in the Company's Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended August 31, 2011. In addition, risks and uncertainties not presently known to the Company or that it believes to be immaterial also may adversely affect the Company. Should any known or unknown risks or uncertainties develop into actual events, or underlying assumptions prove inaccurate, these developments could have material adverse effects on the Company's business, financial condition and results of operations.

Item 3 – Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosure about Market Risk

In the ordinary course of business, the Company is subject to interest rate, foreign currency, and commodity risks. Information related to these risks and management of these exposures is included in Part II, ITEM 7A, QUANTITATIVE AND QUALITATIVE DISCLOSURES ABOUT MARKET RISK, in the Company's Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended August 31, 2011, filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on October 26, 2011. Exposures to market risks have not changed materially since August 31, 2011.

Item 4 – Controls and Procedures

The Company maintains disclosure controls and procedures that are designed to ensure that information required to be disclosed in the Company's reports under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, is recorded, processed, summarized and reported within the time periods specified in the Commission's rules and forms and that such information is accumulated and communicated to the Company's management, including its Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer, as appropriate, to allow for timely decisions regarding required disclosure. In designing and evaluating the disclosure controls and procedures, management recognizes that any controls and procedures, no matter how well designed and operated, can provide only reasonable assurance of achieving the desired control objectives, and management is required to apply its judgment in evaluating the cost-benefit relationship of possible controls and procedures.

The Company carries out a variety of on-going procedures, under the supervision and with the participation of the Company's management, including the Company's Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer, to evaluate the effectiveness of the design and operation of the Company's disclosure controls and procedures. In the second quarter of fiscal 2012, the Company acquired Elian SAS. The scope of the Company's assessment of the effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting did not include Elian SAS. This exclusion is in accordance with the SEC's general guidance that an assessment of a recently acquired business may be omitted from the Company's scope in the year of acquisition. Based on that evaluation, the Company's Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer concluded that the Company's disclosure controls and procedures were effective at a reasonable assurance level as of the end of the period covered by this report.

There has been no change in the Company's internal controls over financial reporting during the Company's most recent fiscal quarter that materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the Company's internal controls over financial reporting.

- 37 -

Table of Contents

PART II - OTHER INFORMATION

Items 1, 3, 4 and 5 are not applicable or the answer to such items is negative; therefore, the items have been omitted and no reference is required in this Quarterly Report.

Item 1A – Risk Factors

There are certain risks and uncertainties in the Company's business that could cause our actual results to differ materially from those anticipated. In "ITEM 1A. RISK FACTORS" of Part I of the Company's Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended August 31, 2011, the Company included a detailed discussion of its risk factors. There are no changes from the risk factors previously disclosed.

Item 2 – Unregistered Sales of Equity Securities and Use of Proceeds

Issuer Purchases of Equity Securities

On April 1, 2011, the Board of Directors approved a three-year share repurchase program under which the Company is authorized to repurchase up to \$100 million of its common stock in the open market or in privately negotiated transactions, subject to market and other conditions ("2011 Repurchase Program"). The 2011 Repurchase Program replaces the Company's previous share repurchase program which was approved in fiscal 2008 ("2008 Repurchase Program").

As part of the 2011 Repurchase Program, on May 12, 2011, the Company entered into a one-year \$30 million share repurchase plan established under Rule 10b5-1 of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (the "Repurchase Plan"). Under the Repurchase Plan, the Company's designated broker repurchased 1,218,429 shares of its common stock under the 2011 Repurchase Program in the first quarter of fiscal 2012 at an average price of approximately \$17.60 per share. As of October 10, 2011, the Company fulfilled the Repurchase Plan by repurchasing a cumulative 1,603,979 shares of its common stock in fiscal 2011 and the first quarter of fiscal 2012 at an average price of approximately \$18.70 per share.

On November 28, 2011, the Company entered into a new 18-month \$30 million share repurchase plan established under Rule 10b5-1 of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, and repurchases under this plan are subject to specific parameters and contain certain price and volume constraints. The Company has not repurchased any shares of common stock under the new repurchase plan. Shares of common stock valued at approximately \$70 million remained authorized for repurchase as of May 31, 2012.

- 38 -

Table of Contents

Item 6 – Exhibits (a) Exhibits

Exhibit Number Exhibit

3.1	Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation of the Company (for purposes of Commission reporting compliance only) (incorporated by reference from Exhibit 3(a) to the Company's Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended August 31, 2009).
3.2	Amended and Restated By-laws of the Company (incorporated by reference from Exhibit 3.2 to the Company's Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the Commission on June 27, 2011).
10.1	Shareholders' Agreement among A. Schulman, Inc., A. Schulman Europe International B.V. and National Petrochemical Industrial Company (incorporated by reference from Exhibit 99.1 to the Company's Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the Commission on June 12, 2012).
31.1	Certification of Principal Executive Officer pursuant to Rule 13a-14(a)/15d-14(a).
31.2	Certification of Principal Financial Officer pursuant to Rule 13a-14(a)/15d-14(a).
32	Certifications of Principal Executive and Principal Financial Officer pursuant to 18 U.S.C. 1350.
*101.INS	XBRL Instance Document.
*101.SCH	XBRL Taxonomy Extension Schema Document.
*101.CAL	XBRL Taxonomy Extension Calculation Linkbase Document.
*101.DEF	XBRL Taxonomy Extension Definition Linkbase Document.
*101.LAB	XBRL Taxonomy Extension Label Linkbase Document.
*101.PRE	XBRL Taxonomy Extension Presentation Linkbase Document.

In accordance with Rule 406T of Regulation S-T, the XBRL (Extensible Business Reporting Language) information in these exhibits shall not be deemed to be "filed" for purposes of Section 18 of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, *as amended, or otherwise subject to liability under that section, and shall not be incorporated by reference into any registration statement or other document filed under the Securities Act of 1933, as amended, except as expressly set forth by specific reference in such filing.

- 39 -

Table of Contents

SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the registrant has duly caused this report to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned thereunto duly authorized.

A. Schulman, Inc. (Registrant)

/s/ Joseph J. Levanduski Joseph J. Levanduski, Vice President, Chief Financial Officer, and Treasurer of A. Schulman, Inc. (Signing on behalf of Registrant as a duly authorized officer of Registrant and signing as the Principal Financial Officer of Registrant)

Date: July 9, 2012

- 40 -